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ABBREVIATIONS

A8

In this annual report, the following abbreviations have the following meanings unless otherwise specified:

RAFHRA  BRXEZBMEIN

“BCFC” or “Club”
[BCFC] s [Bk& ]

“Board”
EX3-4

“Cambodia”

[R5

“Company”
(/NI
“Director(s)”

[E=%]

“Group”
[R&EE]

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”

[&EBRAED

“Listing Rules”
[ETsRA

“PRC” or “China”
[H [

“SFO”
[ &% R B & 5]

“Share(s)”
[ |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 5

“Stock Exchange”
[ Hgk 52 P |

“UK?
[5EF ]

O AA AT RE

Birmingham City Football Club PLC, the principal subsidiary of the Group
Birmingham City Football Club PLC * A& & 7 = BK B A A

the Board of Directors of the Company

ARBZEEER

the Kingdom of Cambodia
RAETH

Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited
BAMEEERAERLDF

the director(s) of the Company

RARRIZESR

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARBREMEBRA

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
R BB R RIT B R

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BB EDIE622F (A FNHESD

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B2 PraE 2 B AR Al

the People’s Republic of China
HEE A RILA

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BFEREDESNMEC(ES RAE D)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
RATRAPEREEC.ONE T &FiBKR

the holder(s) of the Shares
&z #FHB A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERIMBR AT

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
APFNE R Z RS T
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

I am pleased to take this opportunity to present to the Shareholders
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020.

PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 June 2020 was
HK$231.5 million (2019: HK$210.4 million), representing an increase
of 10.0% as compared with the corresponding period in the previous
year. The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2020 was HK$260.5 million (2019: HK$360.9 million).

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD

The Group in principal engages in three business segments: (i)
operation of Birmingham City Football Club in the UK, (ii) investment
in properties, and (iii) provision of lottery system and online payment
system service solutions.

(i) Football club

Following a finish at the 17th position in the English Football
League Championship Division for the season 2018/19, the
Club continued to play in the highly competitive Championship
Division in the season 2019/20. It was the 9th season in which
the Club was playing in the Championship Division and was
finished at the 20th position. The management is keen to
improve the overall game play performance of the Club and
will continue to provide full support to the Club with an aim to
achieve higher ranking in the league in the season 2020/21.

(ii) Investment in properties

The Group has invested in certain residential and commercial
properties in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. The investment of
properties secured a stable stream of income for the Group and
the long-term appreciation in value of the investment properties
can bring further values to the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. The management will continue to explore in this
business segment and will make further investments as and
when potential opportunities arise.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD (Continued)

(iii) Provision of lottery system and online payment system
service solutions

During the year under review, the Group acquired a system
service provider which core management team possesses
extensive experience in the lottery service industry and has
developed proprietary lottery systems and online payment
systems. The acquisition allows the Company to capitalise on
their expertise, knowledge, know-how and the readily available
systems so as to tap into the lottery and online payment service
industry, which the Company considers to have significant
potential for development. The Group will proactively explore
cooperation opportunities in the PRC as well as with overseas
operators.

In July 2020, the Group acquired a medical service group in Japan.
The medical service group principally comprises the provision of
medical consultation and healthcare and wellness referral related
services in Japan. With the impact of China’s growing aging
population becoming more pronounced and the proportion of
middle-class families in China increases, the market demand for
high-end medical products and services will set to arise. The Group
believes that there is enormous potential for future growth in the
medical services market. The management is keen on gradually
building a new medical service segment in the future based on
medical industry resources, supported by high-end medical services,
and with its own technologies and talents as the core, and bring
favourable returns to the Shareholders with reputable business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

BUSINESS PROSPECT AND LOOKING FORWARD (Continued)

The COVID-19 pandemic, which occurred in early 2020, has caused
unprecedent global disruption. In particular, the lockdown in UK,
the requirement by football authorities in the UK for playing matches
behind closed doors, as well as the shutdown of borders in different
extent by most of the countries around the world have, indeed,
affected the global commercial and economic activities. In addition
to the escalating tensions between the PRC and United States (the
“US”) will continue to negatively affect the global economy and take
a toll on economic confidence. The global economy is still facing
significant difficult time due to serious circumstances in the year
ahead.

Facing the turbulent external environment, the management
will continue to streamline the operation of the Group and to
adopt stringent cost control measures so as to strengthen the
competitiveness of the existing businesses. Looking forward, the
management will continue to explore potential opportunities to
diversify the Group’s business, broaden the revenue streams of the
Group and to collaborate with business partners to bring in financing
and strategic support so as to support the long-term growth of the
Group and to create better value to the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank all Shareholders, investors, bankers and business partners for
their continuing trust and support. | would also like to express my
sincerest gratitude to my fellow Directors, the management team and
all staff members for their strenuous efforts and contribution during
the past year.

Zhao Wenging
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$231.5 million (2019: approximately HK$210.4
million), representing an increase of approximately 10.0% as
compared with that for the year ended 30 June 2019.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$260.5 million for the year ended 30 June 2020,
representing a decrease of approximately 27.8% as compared to the
loss of approximately HK$360.9 million for the year ended 30 June
2019. The decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the profit in
transfer activities of players earned during the year ended 30 June
2020 amounting to approximately HK$115.5 million, which was
approximately HK$73.4 million more than that earned in the year
ended 30 June 2019.

The basic loss per share for the year ended 30 June 2020 was
approximately HK1.47 cents (2019: approximately HK2.66 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments: (i)
operation of a professional football club in the UK, (i) investment in
properties, and (i) provision of lottery system and online payment
system service solutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

()

Football club

The Group operates BCFC in the UK. Revenue streams of
BCFC comprised (i) match day receipts which consisted
of season and match day tickets, (ii) broadcasting income,
including distributions of broadcasting revenue from the English
Football League (the “EFL”), cup competitions, solidarity
payment from the Premier League and revenue from the media,
and (iiij commercial income which comprised sponsorship
income, corporate hospitality, merchandising, conferences and
events and other sundry income.

Following a finish at the 17th position in the EFL Championship
Division for the season 2018/19, the Club continued to play
in the highly competitive Championship Division in the season
2019/20 and was finished at the 20th position.

Since the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic (the “Outbreak”), the UK government implemented
public health measures and taken various drastic actions in
order to slowdown the spread of the Outbreak. On 3 April 2020,
the football authorities in the UK including the EFL announced
to postpone football competitions until it is safe to resume.
The UK government subsequently gave the go-ahead to allow
elite sporting events to return behind closed doors and the
EFL championship season was resumed on the weekend of 20
June 2020. The Outbreak and the lockdown affected the sales
performance of BCFC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Football club (Continued)

The Birmingham City Football Academy has continued to
operate at Category 2 status under the Elite Player Performance
Plan. A number of academy trained players continued to
participate in the first team squad.

Investment in properties

The Group holds certain residential apartments and commercial
properties in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. All the properties are
leased out to secure a stable stream of income for the Group.
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded rental
income of approximately HK$24.8 million from the investment
properties.

The Outbreak and the global lockdown hit the economic growth
worldwide including Cambodia, and its real estate market has
been slowed down in the second quarter this year considerably.
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a
loss arising on changes in fair value on its investment properties
of approximately HK$22.4 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

(iii) Provision of lottery system and online payment system
service solutions

In July 2019, the Group acquired Wangmei Online (Beijing)
Information & Technology Co., Ltd.* (#@iEEL& (dbR) EEH
fir AR A7) (“Wangmei Online”). Wangmei Online is a lottery
system and online payment system service solutions provider.
Leveraging on the expertise of Wangmei Online’s management
team and its proprietary systems, the Group had secured local
operators in Cambodia to provide system development and
operation support services. During the year ended 30 June
2020, the Group recorded service income of approximately
HK$2.3 million from the provision of lottery system and online
payment system service solutions.

The slowdown of business activities around the world caused
by the Outbreak adversely affect the growth of the Group’s
system service solution business. During the year ended
30 June 2020, the Group incurred an impairment loss on
goodwill arising on acquisition of Wangmei Online amounted
to approximately HK$2.2 million. The loss was offset by the
fair value gain on derivative financial instruments amounted
to approximately HK$5.5 million which represented the profit
guarantee given by the vendor to the Group for the three years
from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022 in relation to the acquisition
of Wangmei Online.

*

The English translation of the company name is for reference
only. The official name of the company is in Chinese.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

The management has been ambitious to explore new business
opportunities in different markets and industries that can enhance
the performance of the Group. In July 2020, the Group completed
the acquisition of a medical service business in Japan. The medical
service business principally comprises the provision of medical
consultation and healthcare and wellness referral related services
in Japan. Customers are mainly from overseas countries seeking
medical services such as health checks, medical diagnosis and
treatments in Japan. The Group plans to build on the current
structure of the medical service business acquired and strengthen
and expand its existing business by further introducing high net
worth customers from China to receive medical, wellness and other
services in Japan with an aim to enhance its market share and
market position, thereby forming an agglomeration of resources of
Japan’s medical industry. At the same time, with the help of the
Internet, big data and artificial intelligence technologies, the Group
will channel Japanese medical and wellness industry resources to
China by means of online platform, e-commerce and new media
promotion, and gradually build a medical institution that offers non-
optional medical treatments differentiated with sophisticated services
in China by reference to high-end medical services providers in
Japan as its core business. The Group will actively acquire advanced
technologies and talents in relevant segments and progressively
expand its medical territory to other countries and regions to form
a comprehensive international medical and healthcare system.
The Company is keen on gradually building a new medical service
segment in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT (Continued)

Looking ahead, the global economic environment remains
complicated and volatile. In the light of lingering uncertainties
over geopolitics and the Outbreak at the beginning of 2020 has
interrupted the daily life of all people and order around the world. To
prevent the spread of the Outbreak, many countries have imposed
measures to restrict social activities and adopted policies to different
extent to control entry into the territory which adversely affected the
global economies. The Group’s business outlook for the coming year
is full of challenges and uncertainties as macroeconomic environment
is badly affected by the Outbreak, and it will take time to rebuild the
investor confidence. Looking forward, the Group’s management will
continue to adopt a cautious and disciplined approach in managing
the Group’s businesses, and to seize business opportunities in a
prudent manner aiming to create value for the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 was
approximately HK$231.5 million (2019: approximately HK$210.4
million), representing an increase of approximately 10.0% over the
corresponding period in the previous year.

The Club recorded an increase in revenue, in terms of Pound
Sterling, by approximately 2.6% over the corresponding period last
year. The increase in the Club’s revenue, however, was offset by the
devaluation of Pound Sterling during the year ended 30 June 2020
which caused the revenue of the Club decreased by approximately
0.7% to approximately HK$204.4 million in terms of Hong Kong
dollars.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

The revenue derived from the investment properties for the year
ended 30 June 2020 was approximately HK$24.8 million (2019:
approximately HK$4.6 million), all of which was the rental income
from the premises of the Group.

The revenue derived from the provision of lottery system and online
payment system service solutions business for the year ended 30
June 2020 was approximately HK$2.3 million (2019: nil).

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses incurred during the year ended 30 June
2020 were approximately HK$449.9 million (2019: approximately
HK$470.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately 4.4%
over the corresponding period in the previous year.

The operating expenses of the Club for the year ended 30 June 2020
was approximately HK$440.6 million (2019: approximately HK$470.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately 6.3% over the
corresponding period in the previous year. The decrease was mainly
due to the Outbreak and the lockdown in the UK.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group acquired a new
business segment. The operating expenses of the new business
segment was approximately HK$9.3 million for the year ended 30
June 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Other Income

Other income during the year ended 30 June 2020 was
approximately HK$14.6 million which was approximately 66.4%
higher than that during the year ended 30 June 2019. The increase
mainly represented the government subsidy received from the UK
government due to the Outbreak and lockdown in the UK.

Profit on Sales of Players’ Registration

Profit on sales of players’ registration for the year ended 30 June
2020 was approximately HK$115.5 million (2019: approximately
HK$42.1 million). The increase was mainly because higher revenue
from sales of players were generated during the year ended 30 June
2020.

Amortisation of Intangible Assets

Amortisation of intangible assets during the year under review
was approximately HK$84.3 million representing an increase of
approximately 10.1% over that of the previous year. The increase
was primarily due to additional players’ registration was incurred
during the year as more players were signed and the amortisation of
the software acquired during the year ended 30 June 2020.

Impairment of Goodwill

In accordance with the relevant requirement under “HKAS 36 -
Impairment of Assets”, the Group performed impairment assessment
on the goodwill arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary with the
assistance of an external valuer. After conducting the impairment
assessment, the Group recognised an impairment loss of goodwill of
approximately HK$2.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments represent the fair value of the profit
guarantee in respect of the acquisition of Wangmei Online. The fair
value gain on the derivative financial instruments was approximately
HK$5.5 million as at 30 June 2020, which was based on valuation
performed by an independent firm of professional valuer which
represents the difference between the guaranteed profit and the
projected return during the guarantee period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Administrative and Other Expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 30 June 2020 decreased
by approximately 4.8% to approximately HK$51.6 million (2019:
approximately HK$54.2 million). The management will continue to
adopt stringent measures on control and management so as to
maintain the administrative and other expenses at a reasonable level.

Finance Costs

During the year under review, the Group incurred finance costs
of approximately HK$33.2 million (2019: approximately HK$28.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 18.5% over the
corresponding period in the previous year. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in interest payable on new loans drawn during
the year under review in order to cope with the Group’s business
development.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise players’ registration, trademark
and software. The Group had intangible assets as at 30 June
2020 amounted to approximately HK$164.4 million, which was
approximately 15.2% higher than as at 30 June 2019. The increase
was primarily due to the additional players’ registration for the signing
of new players amounted to approximately HK$103.4 million and the
software acquired during the year ended 30 June 2020 amounted to
approximately HK$19.0 million.

Right-of-use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The Group recognised the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
as at 30 June 2020 amounted to approximately HK$24.2 million
and HK$29.4 million respectively, as a result of adoption of HKFRS
16 “Leases” since 1 July 2019. The Group’s lease agreements are
in terms of fixed periods of 99 years for land and 3 to 5 years for
others. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on
a straight-line basis. Accordingly, depreciation of right-of-use assets
for the year ended 30 June 2020 was approximately HK$4.7 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Inventories

The Group’s inventories as at 30 June 2020 decreased by
approximately 75.2% to approximately HK$0.9 million, as a result of
reduction in inventory purchase. All the inventories were current in
nature and no written down of its value was considered necessary.

Trade Receivables

The Group had net trade receivables as at 30 June 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$5.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 26.7% as compared to that as at 30 June 2019. The
decrease was mainly due to reduction in business income during
lockdown in the UK and the additional provision made for impairment
as at 30 June 2020.

Contingent Liabilities

Other than disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020.

Capital Expenditure and Commitments

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group incurred capital
expenditure of approximately HK$1.8 million, the majority of which
were for purchase of property, plant and equipment. As at 30 June
2020, the Group had no significant capital commitment (2019: nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Financial Ratios

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s current ratio (calculated as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 16.3% (2019: 44.0%) and
the gearing ratio (calculated as total borrowings divided by equity
attributable to owners of the Company plus total borrowings) was
59.9% (2019: 26.4%). The ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the
Group was 71.7% (2019: 44.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
(Continued)

Financial Resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows, loans from substantial Shareholders and from
independent third parties, and through the capital market available
to listed companies in Hong Kong. As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s
bank balances and cash were approximately HK$38.8 million (2019:
approximately HK$83.7 million), which were principally denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Pound Sterling and Renminbi. As
at 30 June 2020, the Group had total borrowings of approximately
HK$487.4 million (2019: approximately HK$214.5 million), with
HK$482.6 million repayable within one year, HK$4.6 million repayable
after one year and within five years and HK$0.2 million repayable
after five years. About 97.2%, 1.6% and 1.2% of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and
Pound Sterling, respectively. All borrowings were at fixed interest
rates.

The management endeavours to enhance the Group’s financial
strengths so as to pave the way for future business development.
Cost control measures have already been put in place to monitor
the day-to-day operational and administrative expenses. The
management closely reviews the Group’s financial resources in a
cautious manner and continues to explore opportunities in external
financing and equity funding. The Company will take proactive
actions to improve the liquidity and financial position of the Group
by way of equity fund raising exercises. The Company will closely
monitor the market situation and take prompt actions when such
opportunities arise.

Directors’ Opinion on Sufficiency of Working Capital

As at 30 June 2020, the current liabilities of the Group exceeded
current assets by approximately HK$573.5 million (2019:
approximately HK$187.0 million). The Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern depends on the financial resources presently
available to the Group. Taking into account the expected financial
performance, net cash expected to be generated from the operation
of the Group and the available loan facilities, the Directors believe
that the Group is able to fully meet its liabilities as and when they fall
due and to carry on its business without a significant curtailment of
operations for the foreseeable future.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk mainly relates to
the Group’s operation in the UK, the PRC and the investment in
Cambodia, of which transactions, assets and liabilities are mostly
denominated in Pound Sterling, US dollars and Renminbi. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risks. The management will continue to monitor its foreign
exchange exposure and take appropriate measures if needed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
(Continued)

Pledge of Assets

Certain bank credit facilities made available to BCFC were secured
by a fixed charge over a specific bank deposit account of BCFC
held with the bank. As at 30 June 2020, the balance of this bank
deposit account was GBP800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,634,000) (2019: GBP800,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$7,924,000).

Save for the above, the Group had not charged other assets to
secure its borrowings as at 30 June 2020.

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2020, the Company had an issued capital
of 17,710,022,508 shares of HK$0.01 each in issue (2019:
17,710,022,508 shares).

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 21 December 2016, the Company and Trillion Trophy Asia
Limited (“Trillion Trophy”) entered into a revolving loan facility (as
supplemented by a supplemental facility agreement dated 21
December 2018) pursuant to which Trillion Trophy provided a
revolving loan facility up to HK$250,000,000 to the Company at
an interest rate of 4.5% per annum (collectively the “Trillion Trophy
Facility”). Trillion Trophy is a controlling Shareholder and hence a
connected person of the Company. The transactions contemplated
under the Trillion Trophy Facility constitute financial assistance for
the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of
the Listing Rules, such financial assistance received by the Company
from Trillion Trophy is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A to the Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial
terms or better and it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As
at 30 June 2020, a total of approximately HK$66,197,000 had been
drawn from the Trillion Trophy Facility.
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(Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

On 30 June 2017, Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.
(“Celestial Fame Cambodia”), currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, entered into a long-term lease agreement with Graticity
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“GRED”) to lease the right of use
of a piece of land at Phnom Penh, Cambodia for an initial term of
50 years. At the sole option of Celestial Fame Cambodia, the term
may be extended for another 50 years. The rent payable for the total
lease term shall be US$3,000,000 which shall be paid by 50 equal
instalments each year during the initial term. GRED is a substantial
Shareholder holding approximately 25.63% interest in the Company
and hence a connected person of the Company. The transactions
contemplated under the long-term lease agreement constitute a
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A to the Listing Rules. As all the percentage ratios (other than the
profits ratio) are less than 5% and the annual lease payment for the
lease is less than HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules, the long-term lease agreement is fully exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. During the year
under review, the total amount paid to GRED under the transactions
was approximately HK$468,000 (equivalent to US$60,000).

On 28 August 2018, Celestial Fame Investments Limited (“Celestial
Fame BVI”), a subsidiary of the Group, entered into a master
lease agreement (the “Master Lease Agreement”) with Ever Depot
Limited (“Ever Depot”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRED, to lease
certain of its properties in Cambodia to Ever Depot, to regulate the
terms of proposed continuing connected transactions and their
respective proposed caps of the transactions and thereunder for
the period commencing from 1 December 2018 to 30 June 2021.
The transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement
constitute a continuing connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. The Master Lease Agreement
was approved by the independent Shareholders on 6 December
2018. The approved annual cap of the continuing connected
transactions under the Master Lease Agreement for the year ended
30 June 2020 was US$3,181,000. During the year under review, the
Group recorded rental income under the Master Lease Agreement
of approximately US$3,181,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$24,811,000).
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(Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group employed on
average approximately 340 full time employees and approximately
470 temporary staff members in Hong Kong, the PRC and the UK
(2019: approximately 279 full time employees and approximately 522
temporary staff members). The Group recognises the importance
of high calibre and competent staff and continues to provide
remuneration packages to employees mainly based on industry
practices and individual performance. In addition, the Group provides
other employee benefits including medical insurance, training
subsidy, discretionary bonus and participation in the Company’s
share option scheme.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of a football club
in the UK, properties investment in Cambodia and provision of
lottery system and online payment system service solutions. The
management has identified the following factors that could affect the
result of the Group’s business. In addition to those shown below,
there may be other risks which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

Outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19)

Due to the QOutbreak, many countries have imposed travel
restrictions, public health measures, quarantine requirement of
travellers and even “lockdown” policies in order to contain the
Outbreak which resulted in weakened consumer sentiment in the
world. The lingering the Outbreak have brought uncertainties in
the Group’s operating environment and might impact the Group
operations and financial position.

Business Risk

The Group is exposed to the change in global economic conditions
as well as the industries and geographical markets in which it
operates. As a result, the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations may be influenced by the fluctuation of the global
economy or a specific market or economy. Any significant adverse
change in the economy in the global or regional or a specific
economy could materially affect the Group’s financial condition or
results of operations.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks relating to interest rate,
foreign currency, credit and liquidity risk in its ordinary course of
business. Moreover, the Group is also exposed to potential impact
of currency fluctuations on translation of its principal operating units’
results which are denominated in currencies different to the Group’s
reporting currency. For further details of such risks, please refer to
note 6 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
report.

LV

ANERRH MR

REE2020%F6 A30R I FE HR - A&EE
REE - PR RERFSEALH340E 2 H:
1B B #4704 R B (20194 : 49279%
PHEERNS2RERES) - AEE T
BRNEBENREZEZH  NEELE
TEEIREARREEBSIRETNGE -
o REEREEMEERT  BIEBE
R - FIERM  MBEARSHEARRZ
BT E -

FTRABRTEERE
AEBETZNFLLE -—RRERRERE -1
RFRUENERERRBREERG LR
NREGREEARD R - EREHET T
HE: AIREIAKERBIRE K TX
PROVRES  REREE R EEZEMBE
@ RATRLIR W AREA - MERT RN AR E
FEKRE -

FTE i 5 Z(COVID-19) % 15

HREE  ZERRSERLITRS - A%
AR IREREREAREHEE] - AE
HEE - EHEHEERFRS - FHEMNR
BRASENKERETRT THERE
WA EAREE NS E R BMN -

BB

AEBEESEHEBERRNRELEMETE
Rz B - Bt - AEBZ R
MEEERERG X BN 2R E AR T 5
BRI ZFE - 2RISR E L
FERZEBEMBEAEANTNER 1975
EUAEB B RNIBEEBEREKX

B2 488
-2

B % m B

AEBERTERK BT EEERERNEX - H
% EERRDEcRRETHABIME
Rz o Ho - REBETHRERGEEEES
B (HEBEMRASEREEETR)
MEMELAREEND 2 EETE - BH
RER 2 FHIE - FREAREZHEETTE
R P A2 M RE6 o



22

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED BB 5 REMR A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable to meet
obligations of the loan agreements. Any failure to comply the terms
and conditions of the loan agreements may constitute events of
default. If an event of default occurs, lenders may declare any
commitment under the loan agreements to be cancelled and/
or declare all outstanding amounts together with interest accrued
thereon and all others sums to be immediately due and payable or
payable on demand. To reduce the risk, (i) the Group pays attention
and monitor closely to ensure the compliance of the terms and
conditions of the loan agreements; and (i) actively monitors cash
flows and ensure sufficient cash level is in place to meet operation
needs and commitment.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

On 14 May 2019, the Club, received a notification from the EFL in
connection with breaches of the EFL regulations. These proceedings
arise from the Club failure to comply with a previous EFL imposed
business plan as a result of a 2018 breach in the Championship
Profitability and Sustainability Rules of Appendix 5 of the EFL
regulations. In November 2019, EFL referred the claim to an
independent disciplinary commission. The hearing was held on 12
February 2020 and the charges against the Club were dismissed.
The EFL notified the club of its intention to appeal the decision.
On 10 June 2020, the League Arbitration Panel determined that a
reprimand be the appropriate sanction.

Save for the breaches of the EFL regulations, as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied in all material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
year ended 30 June 2020, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year ended 30
June 2020, there had been no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees, customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. In order to reduce
the degree of environmental damage when developing the Group’s
business, the Group strictly complies with the local laws, rules and
guidance in relation to environmental protection.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 July 2020, the Group has, through the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital in two limited liability companies established
in Japan, acquired their medical services business in Japan.
The medical services business principally comprises of medical
consultation and healthcare and wellness referral related series in
Japan. Customers are mainly from oversea countries seeking medical
services such as health checks, medical diagnosis and treatments in
Japan. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 July 2020.
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The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this annual
report, are set out below:

Mr. Zhao Wenqing

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Zhao, aged 53, joined the Company as an Executive Director
on 15 October 2016 and is the Chairman of the Board. He is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhao
holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Beijing University of
Iron and Steel Technology (now known as University of Science
and Technology Beijing) and a Master of Engineering degree from
University of Science and Technology Beijing in the PRC. Mr. Zhao
had worked as the head of risk management department and the
chief accountant in Beijing Centergate Technologies (Holding) Co.,
Ltd. bR BB ER GER) B AR Q7)) (Shenzhen stock
code: 000931), the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Huang Dongfeng

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Huang, aged 61, joined the Company as an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer on 27 January 2017. Mr. Huang
graduated with a major in management engineering from the Central
South University of Technology (L% K2 ) (now known as
Central South University) in the PRC and is a senior economist. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Huang was the company secretary
(deputy general manager) of Jiangxi Copper Company Limited
(Hong Kong stock code: 358), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and was the director and
general manager of its group companies. Mr. Huang has extensive
experience in corporate management, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition as well as strategies formulation, and has been awarded
the Gold Medal Board Secretary Award (& & # ) by New Fortune
Magazine ( 3781 & 55 ).

Mr. Yiu Chun Kong

Executive Director

Mr. Yiu, aged 35, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
15 October 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Yiu holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has rich experience in auditing, accounting
and finance.

Mr. Yiu is an executive director of EPI (Holdings) Limited (“EPI”)
(Hong Kong stock code: 689), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng

Executive Director

Mr. Hsiao, aged 57, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
14 June 2017. Mr. Hsiao graduated from the Tamkang University in
Taiwan with a Bachelor of Business degree in Banking and Finance.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hsiao held senior management
positions in certain commercial banks. Mr. Hsiao has extensive
experience in strategies formulation, corporate management, risk
control and internal control in multinational corporations, and in
financial institutions in particular.

Dr. Guo Honglin

Executive Director

Dr. Guo, aged 52, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
3 May 2019. Dr. Guo graduated from Renmin University of China
in the PRC and holds a Doctorate in Economics degree. Dr. Guo
has served as the assistant lecturer, lecturer, associate professor
and tutor of postgraduate of master degree in Renmin University
of China and has been engaged as the assistant to the Principal
and the chief of the office of human resources management, and
the executive vice president of the School of Education of Renmin
University of China. Before joining the Company, Dr. Guo was a part-
time professor of the School of Education of Renmin University of
China. Dr. Guo possesses extensive knowledge in education sector
and has over 20 years of experience in institutional management,
strategic development and human resources management. Dr. Guo
is an independent director of Metro Land Corporation Ltd. (Shanghai
stock code: 600683), the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Sue Ka Lok

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sue, aged 55, joined the Company as an Executive Director on
15 October 2016 and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director
with effect from 1 May 2017. Mr. Sue holds a Bachelor of Economics
degree from The University of Sydney in Australia and a Master of
Science in Finance degree from the City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Sue is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia,
a fellow of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, and
a chartered secretary, a chartered governance professional and a
fellow of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). He has
extensive experience in corporate management, finance, accounting
and company secretarial practice. Mr. Sue is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company and a director of Trillion Trophy, a
controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Sue is an executive director and the chief executive officer of
China Strategic Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 235). He
is an executive director of EPI, PYI Corporation Limited (Hong Kong
stock code: 498) and PT International Development Corporation
Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 372). He is also a non-executive
director and the chairman of Courage Investment Group Limited
(Hong Kong stock code: 1145 and Singapore stock code: CIN).
All the aforementioned companies with Hong Kong stock code
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and Courage
Investment Group Limited is primarily listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and secondarily listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited.
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Mr. Pun Chi Ping

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Pun, aged 53, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 15 October 2016, and is the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Pun holds a Master of Science
in Finance degree from the City University of Hong Kong and a
Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree from the City Polytechnic of
Hong Kong (now known as the City University of Hong Kong). Mr.
Pun is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Pun has extensive experience in
corporate finance, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Pun is an independent non-executive director of EPI and Huajun
International Group Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 377). He is also
the financial controller of Poly Property Group Co., Limited (Hong
Kong stock code: 119). All the aforementioned companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Leung, aged 51, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 15 October 2016, the Chairlady of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Leung has extensive experience in banking and financial
services industries and had worked at several international financial
institutions including Citibank, N.A. Hong Kong, Bank of America,
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Fubon
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.

Ms. Leung is an independent non-executive director of EPI, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yeung Chi Tat

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Yeung, aged 50, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee on 8 November 2019. Mr. Yeung holds a Master’s
degree in Professional Accounting with distinction from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor’'s degree in
Business Administration from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
Senior International Finance Manager of the International Financial
Management Association. Mr. Yeung worked at a major international
accounting firm for over 10 years and then worked for various
Hong Kong listed companies as financial controller and company
secretary. He possesses extensive experience in auditing, corporate
restructuring and corporate finance. Mr. Yeung is currently the
Deputy President of the Hong Kong Independent Non-executive
Director Association and a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung is an independent non-executive director of Sitoy Group
Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 1023) and Guodian
Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited (Hong
Kong stock code: 1296), and an independent director of New
Hope Dairy Holdings Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen stock code: 002946). All
aforementioned companies with Hong Kong stock code are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and New Hope Daily
Holdings Co., Ltd. is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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The Directors are pleased to submit their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its major subsidiaries are the operation of a professional
football club in the UK, properties investment in Cambodia and
provision of lottery system and online payment service solutions.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be found
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5 to 23 of this annual
report, which form part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 66 to 67.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company and
share options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 70 and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

EEMARIREEHZE2020F6 30 IEFEZ
EFeREBRAEBZEEXEAVBR
Zi( °

TEERREKDE
ARBB—FRERBR AR - EXEMB L
AZEIBEBRUEREBERRELE B
RHRUENERERRBERERERGRELR
NREGIERTTE o

RIRE B RGP REPT R ER A K E
ZEBZE—FAWELN - BREAEEMR
S zTE2EBETHAREE  aMBFE
REAEMBLEHAKBEEKTYECERS
HRBARAREBEBRRZERTEH - &
BENAFRESAEZBAEZ[EFRE IR
[EEENREINMINEHAR - EASEHE
RAEEGREN—BD -

2ERKRE
REBEE2020F6 A30H It FE 2 245
NEBETE 2 EEhEm2m ks
% °

BEEETRFZIREEET202066 308 IF4
B2 AL B (20194F : #) o

M- BERRE
RER - NEBEME  BELERE2EBF
BER A MWK L8

RE %
AEE RENENTER 2 B
b & B MR I 322 -

BN

IR X B8 AR A
RRBNERZBEARRERE 2 ZBFED
BB R & B 7% TR Y 7365236 °

f#1E
REBRARRRFRZHEEBFIBTD
HRETOEZIREEREBR RRE Y BR
K MIFES5 ©



30

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED BB 5 REMR A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(Continued)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 30 June 2020
amounted to approximately HK$127,240,000 (2019: approximately
HK$229,224,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
158. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s sales to the five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% of total revenue.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s purchases from
the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 50% of total
purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 22%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the year 30 June
2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the financial year ended 30
June 2020 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Wenqing (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Dongfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong

Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng

Dr. Guo Honglin

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sue Ka Lok

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pun Chi Ping

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (appointed on 8 November 2019)

Mr. To Yan Ming Edmond (passed away on 28 August 2019)

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 24
to 28 of this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Zhao Wenqging, Mr. Yiu Chun Kong and Mr. Sue
Ka Lok will retire at the forthcoming general meeting (the “2020
AGM”) of the Company by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election in the 2020 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2020 AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

As at 30 June 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director and the Director’s connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 30 June 2020 or at any
time during the year ended 30 June 2020.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses and liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
and officers liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other
officers of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The following is updated information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

1. Mr. Yeung Chi Tat retired as an independent non-executive
director of Boer Power Holdings Limited (Hong Kong stock
code: 1685), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with effect from 5 June 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2020, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under the section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the

Company:
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

capital

(Note (i)

Number of NN |

underlying 21T

Capacity and shares held Bz

Name of director nature of interest Fris1ERg Note BMAES T

EEZEB SO RESEME RHEE Mt (HtaE(i)

Mr. Zhao Wenqing Beneficial owner 66,804,124 (i) 0.38%
OB R E EnA A

Mr. Huang Dongfeng Beneficial owner 66,804,124 (i) 0.38%
EHRELA EnEEA

Notes: Wit

The approximate percentage of the Company’s issued share capital
was calculated on the basis of 17,710,022,508 shares in issue as at
30 June 2020.

This represented the interest in the underlying shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of the share options granted by the
Company to the Directors on 6 December 2018 pursuant to the
share option scheme adopted by the Shareholders on 30 December
2016 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The consideration paid by each
Director on acceptance of the share options granted was HK$1.00.
The exercise price of the share options was HK$0.1084 per share.
The share options shall be vested and exercisable in three tranches
in accordance with the following dates: (1) approximately one third
of the share options granted was vested on the date of grant and
exercisable within the period of five years thereafter, i.e., from 6
December 2018 to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive); (2)
approximately one third of the share options granted shall be vested
on the first anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within
the period of four years after being vested, i.e., from 6 December
2019 to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive); and (3) the
remaining one third of the share options granted shall be vested on
the second anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within
the period of three years after being vested, i.e. 6 December 2020
to 5 December 2023 (both dates inclusive).

Upon completion of the rights issue on 23 April 2019, the number of
share options owned by each of Mr. Zhao Wenqging and Mr. Huang
Dongfeng was adjusted to 66,804,124 to subscribe for 66,804,124
shares, exercisable at an adjusted price of HK$0.09736 per share
during a period from 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2020, none of the directors
or chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 30 June 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
person or corporation (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have an interest or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Shares interest
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Br _ESCATHE B8 & S - 1R2020F6 A30H © A
RNAIZBEESZRETHRABBENRADQR
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of

(Note (i) issued share
Capacity and HEEER capital
Name of shareholder nature of interest ZBRMBEE Notes HARATERT
BRRER BORERME (W)  HaE BAZHBNED L
Trillion Trophy Beneficial owner 5,425,000,000 (ii) 30.63%
EREREA
Wealthy Associates International Interest of controlled corporation 5,425,000,000 (ii) 30.63%
Limited (“Wealthy Associates”) Rt EER
Mr. Suen Cho Hung, Paul (“Mr. Suen”) Interest of controlled corporation 5,425,000,000 (ii) 30.63%
TR A (TREED TEHEEER
Ever Depot Beneficial owner 4,5639,161,000 (iii) 25.63%
KB ERBBEA
GRED Interest of controlled corporation 4,5639,161,000 (iii) 25.63%
AR ER
Mr. Vong Pech Interest of controlled corporation 4,5639,161,000 (iii) 25.63%
Vong Pech’t & XEHEEER
Dragon Villa Limited (“Dragon Villa”) Beneficial owner 3,294,366,000 (iv) 18.60%
REERAR([RE]) E=EAA
Mr. Lei Sutong Interest of controlled corporation 3,294,366,000 (iv) 18.60%

BEREE F B
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Notes:

(i) All the above interests in the shares of the Company were long
positions.

(i) Trillion Trophy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wealthy Associates
which in turn is wholly-owned by Mr. Suen. Accordingly, Wealthy
Associates and Mr. Suen are deemed to be interested in the
5,425,000,000 shares held through Trillion Trophy under the SFO.

(i)  Ever Depot is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRED which in turn is
wholly-owned by Mr. Vong Pech. Accordingly, GRED and Mr. Vong
Pech are deemed to be interested in the 4,539,161,000 shares held
through Ever Depot under the SFO.

(iv) Dragon Villa is wholly-owned by Mr. Lei Sutong. Accordingly, Mr.
Lei Sutong is deemed to be interested in the 3,294,366,000 shares
held through Dragon Villa under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the Company’s shares
or underlying shares as at 30 June 2020 as required pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2016.
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme
will be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the date of adoption. As at the date of this report, the remaining life
of the Share Option Scheme is approximately six years. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. Participants of
the Share Option Scheme comprise of Directors, employees of the
Group; and any advisors, consultants, business partners, agents,
customers, suppliers, service providers, contractors of any member
of the Group or any company or other entity in which the Group
or any member of it has a shareholding interest, who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group or any member of it. The offer of a grant of share options may
be accepted until the 30th day inclusive of, and from, the date of
grant, provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme or after the Share Option Scheme
has been terminated. The amount payable by each grantee of
options to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$1.00.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the shares on the exercise of options
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price as determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but in any case the subscription price shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of the Shares (if any) on the date of grant.
The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Board but in any event, not longer than ten years from the date of
grant.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company in any 12-month period up to the proposed date of grant
(including exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
proposed date of grant. Any further grant of options to a participant
in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to the Shareholders’
approval with such participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from
voting.

The limit on the total number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding lapsed and cancelled
options) must not exceed 30% of the total number of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. In addition, the total number
of the shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme, together
with all options to be granted under any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company (excluding lapsed options), must not represent more
than 10% of the total number of the shares of the Company in issue
as at the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”) or as at the date of the approval of the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit as the case maybe.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

As at the date of this report, a total of 1,771,002,250 shares
(representing approximately 10% of the existing issued Shares), as
refreshed by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on
31 December 2019, may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and a total of 334,020,618 shares (representing approximately
1.89% of the existing issued Shares) may be issued upon exercise of
all options which had been granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, a total of 1,771,002,250 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued Shares at the date of
this report, were available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Details of movements in the number of share options during the year
ended 30 June 2020 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:
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Number of
share options
outstanding

Number of
share options
outstanding

as at as at
1 July 2019 30 June 2020
Name or Exercise H20195 #20205
category of Exercisable period price per 7R1A8 6A30AH
participant Date of grant (both dates inclusive) share B RITHEZ HATEZ
SHRERZRER REAH TS (BEERWX) BRITHEE BREHE BREHA
HK$
BT
Directors:
-
Mr. Zhao Wenging 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,042 22,268,042
IR E 2018F12A6H 2018512 A6B 22023412 50
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 22,268,041
201912 A6H £2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 22,268,041
202012 A6B £2023%12A5H
Mr. Huang Dongfeng 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,042 22,268,042
ERELE 2018F12H6H 201812 A6HZ2023F 12450
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 22,268,041
2019F12 A6 B £2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 22,268,041 22,268,041
202012 A6E £2023F12 A5H
133,608,248 133,608,248
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,123 66,804,123
& 201812 A6H 201812 A6H £2023F12A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,124 66,804,124
2019512 A6B 22023412 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.09736 66,804,123 66,804,123
202012 A6E £2023F 12 A5H
200,412,370 200,412,370
334,020,618 334,020,618
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

()  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant
until the commencement date of the exercise period.

(i) During the year 30 June 2020, no options were granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme.

(i) As a result of the rights issue which was completed on 23 April
2019, the exercise price of the share options was adjusted from
HK$0.1084 to HK$0.09736 under the Share Option Scheme and
the supplementary guidance regarding adjustment of share options
under Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules. The number of shares
of the Company that will fall to be issued upon exercise of the
outstanding share options were also adjusted accordingly.

Additional information in relation to the Share Option Scheme are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

Save disclosed in the sections headed “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES” above and the “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
disclosure in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2020 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable to the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the directors of the Company or their spouse or
minor children had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year ended 30
June 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 30 June
2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company had not entered
into any contract in respect of the management or administration of
any business of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 30 June 2020, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors, or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had any material interest in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 42 to 60 of this annual
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 21 December 2016, the Company and Trillion Trophy entered
into a revolving loan facility agreement (as supplemented by a
supplemental facility agreement dated 21 December 2018) pursuant
to which Trillion Trophy provided an unsecured revolving loan
facility up to HK$250,000,000 to the Company at an interest rate
of 4.5% per annum, i.e. Trillion Trophy Facility. Trillion Trophy is
a controlling Shareholder and hence a connected person of the
Company. The transactions contemplated under the Trillion Trophy
Facility constitute financial assistance for the Company under the
Listing Rules. Pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, such
financial assistance received by the Company from Trillion Trophy
is fully exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A to the
Listing Rules as it is conducted on normal commercial terms or
better and it is not secured by the assets of the Group. As at 30
June 2020, a total of approximately HK$66,197,000 had been drawn
from the Trillion Trophy Facility.

On 30 June 2017, Celestial Fame (Cambodia), currently a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a long-term lease
agreement with GRED to lease the right of use of a piece of land at
Phnom Penh, Cambodia for an initial term of 50 years. At the sole
option of Celestial Fame Cambodia, the term may be extended for
another 50 years. The rent payable for the total lease term shall be
US$3,000,000 which shall be paid by 50 equal instalments each
year during the initial term. GRED is a substantial Shareholder
holding approximately 25.63% interest in the Company and hence a
connected person of the Company. The transactions contemplated
under the long-term lease agreement constitute a continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A to the
Listing Rules. As all the percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) are less than 5% and the annual lease payment for the lease
is less than HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules, the long-term lease agreement is fully exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. During the year
under review, the total amount paid to GRED under the transactions
was approximately HK$468,000 (equivalent to US$60,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

On 28 August 2018, Celestial Fame (BVI), a subsidiary of the Group,
entered into the Master Lease Agreement with Ever Depot, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GRED, to lease certain of its properties in
Cambodia to Ever Depot for a term three years at a rental of US$15
per sg.m. per month, which term may be renewed by agreement of
Celestial Fame BVI and Ever Depot. GRED is a connected person
of the Company. The transactions contemplated under the Master
Lease Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A to the Listing Rules. The Master
Lease Agreement was approved by the independent Shareholders
on 6 December 2018. The approved annual cap of the continuing
connected transactions under the Master Lease Agreement for
the year ended 30 June 2020 was US$3,181,000. During the year
under review, the Group recorded rental income under the Master
Lease Agreement of approximately HK$24,811,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$3,181,000).

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Directors engaged
the auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The letter states that nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board, were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group, were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
the transactions, and have exceeded the respective annual cap
amounts. The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions and the unqualified letter from
the auditor and are in the opinion that the continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group were in the ordinary and
usual course of its business, on normal commercial terms or better,
according to the terms of the agreement governing such transactions
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole and within their respective annual cap amounts.

In relation to the continuing connected transactions of the Group,
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties regarded
as “related parties” under the applicable accounting standards.
Save for the continuing connected transactions disclosed under
the section headed “CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
above, the other related party disclosures as disclosed in note 43 to
the consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their competence,
performance, experience and prevailing market terms. Other
employee benefits included provident fund scheme, medical
insurance, share option scheme as well as discretionary bonus.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
confirmed that it has maintained a sufficient public float in the market
as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
and the external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI ANDA”), the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2020 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA.

A resolution will be proposed at the 2020 AGM to re-appoint
ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Wengqing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial
to improve the efficiency and performance of the Group and to
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders. The Company aims to
achieve good standard of corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the applicable provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 30 June 2020.

The following sections set out how the principles in the CG Code
have been complied with by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry with the existing Directors, all of them confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 30 June 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective oversight over the
management. The Board members are fully committed to their roles
and have acted in good faith to maximise the shareholders’ value in
the long run, and have aligned the Group’s goal and directions with
the prevailing economic and market conditions. Daily operations and
administration are delegated to the management.

The Board met regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Directors are kept informed on timely basis of major
changes that may affect the Group’s business, including relevant
rules and regulations. The Directors can, upon reasonable request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors discharge their duties.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond, an Independent Non-executive Director,
passed away on 28 August 2019. Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond
was the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Following
the passing away of Mr. To, the Board then comprised eight
members, including four Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors. There was
a vacancy in the position of the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The number of Independent Non-executive Directors and Audit
Committee members falls below the minimum number required by
Rule 3.10(1), Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The
Company then were in the process of identifying suitable candidate
to fill the vacancies as soon as practicable within three months from
the date of passing away of Mr. To as required under Rules 3.11
and 3.23 of the Listing Rules. On 8 November 2019, Mr. Yeung
Chi Tat has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Upon such appointment, the Company has fully complied with the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of nine
members including five Executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao
Wenqging, Mr. Huang Dongfeng, Mr. Yiu Chun Kong (“Mr. Yiu”),
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng and Dr. Guo Honglin, one Non-executive
Director, Mr. Sue Ka Lok (“Mr. Sue”), and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Pun Chi Ping (“Mr. Pun”), Ms. Leung
Pik Har, Christine (“Ms. Leung”) and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. Members
of the Board have different professional and relevant industry
experiences and background and have a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company considers all existing Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules. Biographies details of the
Directors are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 24 to 28 of this annual report.

As disclosed in that section, Mr. Sue is an executive director of EPI
of which Mr. Yiu is an executive director, Mr. Pun and Ms. Leung
are independent non-executive directors. Save for the aforesaid,
there is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship between members of the Board and senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company will provide a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction to each newly appointed Director on his/her first
appointment in order to enable him/her to have appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. The Company has provided timely
technical updates, including the briefing on the amendments on the
Listing Rules and the news release published by the Stock Exchange
to the Directors. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors are arranged where necessary.

The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars, in-house briefings and reading
materials on the related areas to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. During the year ended 30 June 2020, all existing Directors
(including Mr. Zhao Wenging, Mr. Huang Dongfeng, Mr. Yiu Chun
Kong, Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng, Dr. Guo Honglin, Mr. Sue Ka Lok, Mr.
Pun Chi Ping, Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat)
have complied with Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code and have
provided the Company with their respective training records pursuant
to the CG Code.

The Board holds meetings on a regular basis and meets on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter is
required. The Board also monitors and controls financial performance
in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Company held four regular Board meetings and an annual
general meeting during the year ended 30 June 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The attendance of each Director at the meetings held during the year

ended 30 June 2020 is set out as follows:
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Attendance/Number of meetings

HESRRE EERY
Annual
Board General
Meeting Meeting
Name of director BEEg? EZgEed REBEAE
Executive directors: HITES !
Mr. Zhao Wenging (Chairman) OB R (FE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Huang Dongfeng (Chief Executive Officer) BRELAE (TTHAH) 4/4 -/
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong kBT 4/4 1/1
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng BERELE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Guo Honglin A IE 1 4/4 -/
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BRERE 4/4 -/1
Independent non-executive directors: BUYFHTES:
Mr. Pun Chi Ping AT RE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REETLT 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BRELE 3/3 1/1
(appointed on 8 November 2019) (R2019%F 11 58HEZ (L)
Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond I BIS S A -/- -/-
(passed away on 28 August 2019) (R2019F8 H28H Bt )
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE ETERTBAR

The Company adopts a dual leadership structure in which the role
of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are assumed by different persons. The Chairman is
responsible for overseeing all Board functions, while the Executive
Directors and senior management are under the leadership of the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company to oversee the day-to-day
operations of the Group and implement the strategies and policies
approved by the Board.

Currently Mr. Zhao Wenqing is the Chairman of the Board and Mr.
Huang Dongfeng is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) is appointed for a term of 12-month period
which automatically renews for successive 12-month periods unless
terminated by either party in writing prior to the expiry of the term.
All the Non-executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
executive Directors) are also subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at least once every three years at the annual general
meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A number of committees of the Board, namely the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, have been
set up by the Company, with specific terms of reference relating
to authority and duties, to strengthen the Board’s functions and
enhance its expertise.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference that is in
compliance with the CG Code.

Following the passing away of Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond on 28
August 2019, the number of members of the Audit Committee fell
below the minimum number required under the Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules. Upon the appointment of Mr. Yeung Chi Tat as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 8 November 2019, the
Company has fully complied with the requirements under Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Chi Tat,
Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine, who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the
accounting profession and in commercial fields. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Yeung Chi Tat.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing financial
statements of the Company, discussing the risk management
and internal control of the Group and meeting with the auditor of
the Company. Any findings and recommendations of the Audit
Committee will be submitted to the Board for consideration.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any
activity within its terms of reference. It is authorised to seek any
information it requires from any employee. It is also authorised to
obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice and
to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and
expertise if it considers necessary. The full terms of reference are
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 30
June 2020.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HESFIE

Name of member REHR BERH
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (appointed on 8 November 2019) GRS (R2019F 11 A8 A EZET) 11
Mr. Pun Chi Ping EeTRE 2/2
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REELLT 2/2
Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond (passed away on 28 August 2019) 1+ BI& % 4 (R20194F8 A28 H B 1) -/-
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2020:

1. reviewed and discussed with the management and the auditor
of the Company the annual audit plan, accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group and the scope of the
audit;

2. reviewed reports from the auditor of the Company regarding
their audit on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2019;

3. reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2019
and recommended to the Board for approval;

4. reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the six months ended
31 December 2019 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

5. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group; and

6. reviewed and approved the remuneration and the terms of
engagement of the Company’s auditor; and reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
Company’s auditor.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pun Chi
Ping, Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. The
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Pun Chi Ping.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for formulating
the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the
Board the annual remuneration policy and the remuneration of the
directors. The overriding objective of the remuneration policy is to
ensure that the Group is able to attract, retain and motivate a high-
caliber team which is essential to the success of the Group. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was updated on
28 February 2020 and full terms of reference are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
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ended 30 June 2020. The attendance of each member is set out as c BB ZHFIERET
follows: T

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HESRIE

Name of member RE®E SERE

Mr. Pun Chi Ping EETRE 3/3

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REET L 3/3

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (appointed on 8 November 2019) BREELLE (R2019F 11 H8HAEZ(F) 2/2

Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond (passed away on 28 August 2019) 1 B8 e 4 (R20194F8 28 H g# 1) -/-
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2020:

1. reviewed the annual remuneration policy;

2. reviewed the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Non-
executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors
and management year-end bonus;

3. reviewed and approved the services agreement of the Directors;

4. reviewed and approved the amendments to the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee; and

5. made recommendation to the Board on the above matters.

The Group recognises the importance of high caliber and competent
staff and continues to provide remuneration packages to employees
with reference to prevailing market practices and individual
performance. Other benefits, such as medical and retirement
benefits, are also provided. In addition, share options may be
granted to eligible employees of the Group (including the Directors)
in accordance with the terms of the approved share option scheme
adopted by the Group.

Details of Directors’ emoluments during the year ended 30 June
2020 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements
and details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the Directors’
Report and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
total remuneration of the senior management (excluding Directors)
for the year ended 30 June 2020 is in the range of HK$500,000 —
HK$3,000,000.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of reference
that is in compliance with the CG Code.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung
Pik Har, Christine, Mr. Pun Chi Ping and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat. The
Nomination Committee is chaired by Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for identifying
potential directors and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. Potential new
directors are selected on the basic of his/her qualifications, skills and
experience that he/she could add value to the management through
his/her contributions in the relevant strategic business areas. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was updated on
28 February 2020 and full terms of reference are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year ended
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30 June 2020. The attendance of each member is set out as follows: BITMIE% BB Z2HEBRESY 0
T

Attendance/

Number

of meetings

HEEBERE

Name of member REHA BEAH

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine REELL 2/2

Mr. Pun Chi Ping EETRE 2/2

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (appointed on 8 November 2019) BEELE (R2019F 11 H8HHEZ(T) 1/1

Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond (passed away on 28 August 2019) #t BIE %4 (R2019F 8528 H g tt) -/-
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 30 June 2020:

1. assessed and confirmed the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors;

2. reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, diversity and experience) of the Board;

3. reviewed the board diversity policy;

4. reviewed and approved the amendments to the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee;

5. reviewed the appointment and re-election of directors, and
6. made recommendation to the Board on the above matters.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance and adopted the board
diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The
Board Diversity Policy sets out that in determining the optimum
composition of the Board, differences in skKills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of
directors shall be considered. All Board appointments are made on
merits, in the context of skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
and the Nomination Committee shall review and assess the Board
composition and its effectiveness on an annual basis. When there
is vacancy on Board, the Nomination Committee will recommend
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board on merits, based
on the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, with due
regard to the Company’s own circumstances.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure that the policy will be implemented
effectively.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy of the Company
(the “Nomination Policy”) setting out the principles which guide
the Nomination Committee to identify and evaluate a candidate
and (ii) the
Shareholders for election as a director of the Company. According

for nomination to (i) the Board for appointment;

to the Nomination Policy, in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate, the Board shall take into account among other things,
the following factors: (i) qualifications, professional experience, skills
and knowledge which are relevant to the businesses of the Group; (ii)
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; (iii) in
case of independent non-executive directors, regulatory requirement
for appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors and the
independence criteria as set out in the Listing Rules;
perspectives as set out in the Board Diversity Policy; and (v) any
other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

(iv) diversity

For filling a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation. On making recommendation, the Nomination
Committee may submit to the Board a proposal comprising, inter
alia, the personal profile of the proposed candidate for consideration.
The personal profile should contains at least the candidate’s
information required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51 of the Listing
Rules. The Board shall be vested with power to make the final
decision on all matters relating to the recommendation of candidates
(i) for appointment; and (i) for standing for election at a general
meeting as Director.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
from time to time to ensure that the polices will be implemented
effectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the employees and directors
of the Group; and

5.  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure requirements in the corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group at that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control and reviewing their
effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and the
Group’s assets. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The review
covers financial, operational and compliance controls of the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

The Group does not have an internal audit function in view of the
size of the Group and consideration for cost effectiveness. During
the year under review, the Company engaged an independent
consultant to conduct review on the risk management and
internal control systems to identify and evaluate significant risks
of the Group’s business operations. The Board believes that the
involvement of an independent consultant could enhance the
objectivity and transparency of the evaluation process. During its
review, the consultant has performed an assessment of selected
financial procedures, systems and internal controls in order to
identify significant findings in the relevant internal controls of the
Group. Certain aspects of their review include corporate governance
and listing rules compliance. The consultant has also conducted
interviews with the Group’s management, staff members and key
process operators, and inspected relevant documentations in order
to understand the Group’s processes and controls. The consultant
has performed tests to determine whether the controls have been
properly implemented and operated, and finally identified certain
findings based on their results of tests and developed relevant
recommendations and suggestions for improvement.

For the risk management perspective, the consultant has also
performed an assessment on the Group’s financial, operation,
compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk areas.
A written risk assessment report with the identified key risks and
risk evaluation results have been presented to the Board. The Board
will implement appropriate measures to continue to minimise the
identified risks and control them within acceptable levels. In order to
manage risks effectively, the management will continue to monitor
the identified risks and the respective control measures, and arrange
adequate resources for the effective control measures undertaken.

In order to assess the importance and materiality of the identified
risks, the management ranked the risks based on the level of
likelihood and impact from a scale of 1 to 5 (5 being the highest
level), the highest the level of likelihood and risk impact, the more
important and material the risks are, which the management will put
more effort and resources in managing those risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Board has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group by, including but not limited
to, considering the internal control and risk assessment report
prepared by the consultant to the Company covering the above
aspects. The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, and training programmes of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function during the year
under review. The Board is not aware of any significant internal
control and risk management weaknesses nor significant breach of
limits or risk management policies, and considers the existing internal
control and risk management systems effective and adequate for
the year ended 30 June 2020. The Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions of the CG Code relating to risk management
and internal control.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information policy
also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to ensure
proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching
the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company
has appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify
and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of inside
information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the
relevant information on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s annual and interim
reports, inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2020.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding its
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages
61 to 65.

(ft}%%“iﬁ#&%

BEeEERABEE(F)

HZE2020F6A30HILFE  EEEEHAR
£ B R E 1B I SR EE I I MR SR 1T
FEEH  EHReE(BETRY) ZEHEM
BN 2 B AT 4R 250 2 _E il 5 T Ay R SR BS
MREMETDRRBRT GRS - EZTSTRE
BEFEZRIASEES MV KRS 4L
FENER  BLER REBIRIFIIRE
REFE - REE2020F6 A30H LFE -
EFSVTNBTMNEAATEELRARE
B FTINEEREERRINRARE
BRE  WRARBANIBELHE RER
BHIEBERLEH - ARRIDETRE
JAST BRI A BB B R N SR ES 2 MY AR Y
Al »

b mf o

EERBHATHES
ARBIRAERERERABBEEBER  EF
BHARERBMABHEENEFMAE
7 ERRERS AR IE KM - Mk
PEHRENALEESRR S LERREER
iz - AFRBEEBRER T RAKEREBREM]IE
3l ARREBEEREIEABHARRERZE
ENEMRRNZHERE - AR AREE
B P BE AT K BE SR IE - AR RN R VAR B
MARHEE - RIEFBLTRARE - AR7E
RRHEE 2T A RN R F) R A8 uh
TIEARRE S ©

BMENEREX

g 2k
EX2RAAERARAFERTH®RE A
BEEMO DM R EMARE B AR R & E A E
EREREHZUBREZ2HR—EFET
&~ BT R A IR AR 2 BT A e

EERABRFHREANQAFHE2020F6A
RULFEZHEAMBRRNEME -

AR RSIMNEZEAD G E S AN E B iR A ISR
FOEREAMELNERHNECIE658
R IB S BA RS -



57

#£ 3% ANNUAL REPORT 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Continued)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the remuneration, paid/payable
to the Group’s external auditors, are set out as follows:

Approximate fees paid/payable to
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Bt/ ERZBAIER
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$ HK$
Services rendered for the group a4 R B iR 2 AR 7% BT BT
Audit services 2 ER 7% 1,375,000 1,299,000
Non-audit services FE A% EUR 75
- Agreed-upon procedures of - BETHEERER
interim review 120,000 105,000
—  Other non-audit services - HEMIERERE 308,000 1,552,000
1,803,000 2,956,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yam Pui Hung, Robert, the Chief Financial Officer has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company since 3 May
2019. Mr. Yam holds a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree from
the City Polytechnic of Hong Kong (now known as City University
of Hong Kong). Mr. Yam is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yam has extensive
experience in accounting, financial management, corporate finance
and company secretarial practice. Mr. Yam has taken no less than
15 hours of the relevant professional training during the year ended
30 June 2020.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the Shareholders and the Board.
The notice of the AGM is despatched to all the Shareholders at least
20 clear business days prior to such AGM. The chairmen of all the
Board committees are invited to attend the AGM. The chairman of
the Board and the chairmen of all the Board committees, or in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available
to answer questions at the AGM. The auditor of the Company is also
invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) may convene a meeting
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Article 88 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
no person, other than a Director retiring at a meeting, shall,
unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
appointment as a Director at any general meeting unless there shall
have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of
the Company a notice in writing signed by a Shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and also a notice in writing
signed by that person of his willingness to be elected as a Director.
The said notices shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office of the Company not less than 7 clear days but
not more than 14 clear days before the date of the general meeting.
The written notice must state that person’s biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and that the person
has passed The Owners’ and Directors’ Test in the UK pursuant to
the Appendix Ill of the Regulation of the English Football League.

Procedures to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong or email to ir@bihl.com.hk
for the attention of the Company Secretary of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy during the year ended 30 June
2020. When considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
the Board takes into account the following factors: (i) the actual
and expected financial performance of the Group, (i) the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Group, (i) the expected
working capital requirements and future expansion plans, (iv) liquidity
position, and (v) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The form and frequency of dividend declaration and payment shall
be determined at the sole and absolute discretion of the Board and
is also subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles
of Association.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders.
These include the annual general meeting, the annual and interim
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at www.bshl.com.hk.

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company Secretary
of the Company at 31/F, Vertical Sqg., 28 Heung Yip Road, Wong
Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

Constitutional Documents

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
published on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, there had been no change to
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
66 to 157, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$260,484,000 for the year ended 30 June
2020 and as at 30 June 2020 the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$573,454,000. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

M

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Refer to Notes 18 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets for impairment. This impairment test is
significant to our audit because the balance of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets of HK$171,065,000 and
HK$164,435,000 respectively as at 30 June 2020 are material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement and
is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the valuation models used by the Group;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuers engaged by client;

= Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
models to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models;
and

—  Obtaining market data of the intangible assets.
We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets is supported by the
available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

(m

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group measured its investment properties at fair value
with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to
our audit because the balance of investment properties of
HK$530,634,000 as at 30 June 2020 and the fair value loss
of HK$22,386,000 for the year then ended are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair
value measurement involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgements and assumptions applied in
the valuation model;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in

the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment properties is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

BYZEERE @)

(m

BREME
2R A BB HRERM 22 -

EEEURATEFEEREYE  BH
NREESHREEEERANER - A
FEFEHRMNEBETMEBEK -
A % & ¥ ¥ 1M2020F6 A30R 2 4 #
530,634,000 T REZZ B IEFERQ
FEE51822,386,00078 T i 4r & B 7% 3R
AMEBEK - Wi BEEBMZAF
B2 RHE 2 EATRES @A/RER
KAKEr ©

BB EFEE (P EHE)

- FEREPZRBZINEEMZE
FE -~ B RS

- ERIINEEEREREINSFG
B mEEMEERF
PRI ERMSEBBRAXFEHE
B R 2 EAH T R ARER

~ EREEEATOISRRLEE
AR P 2 S R 0

— ERGEERZEE R
&

— FEBRARBREANATENE
TRE -

BMRA EREHRENEOLTE
5HE A I R R -

ESAHAEMENAR - HWERBETIH

BERRFRANAEER  BEFBRES

B BHERRBMNZEERS

HPESEEMBERERNBRAL NREEME

X

HPTP T HZEERBEREMT AN E

DK g A
B o



64

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED A& 5= R EMR A A

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website
at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P3614

Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REBEBERHEMEZERER

For the year ended 30 June 2020 20206 H30H I F/Z
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Revenue W 2 8 231,529 210,437
Operating expenses R B S (449,872) (470,368)
Loss from operations KEER (218,343) (259,931)
Interest revenue F B U == 7,803 771
Other income =N 10 14,649 8,803
Profit on sales of players’ registration HE B B s it 2 % A 115,543 42,133
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE (84,331) (76,583)
Administrative and other expenses TTE R EAM RS (51,609) (54,205)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEZREEE (393) (14,746)
Impairment loss on goodwill R REEE (2,212) -
Fair value change on investment REWMEZ AFEEF
properties (22,386) 23,160
Fair value gain on derivative financial MTEeRmIT AR FERE
instruments 5,544 =
Share-based payments expense AR BER 2 R H (2,761) (4,398)
Finance costs Bl & A AN 11 (33,187) (28,008)
Share of loss of a joint venture BhEECEZEE - (46)
Loss before taxation FRB A& 18 (271,683) (363,050)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (ZH) 12 5,199 (1,640)
Loss for the year rEEEE 13 (266,484) (364,690)
Other comprehensive expense Hit 2 M X
Item that may be reclassified HignJpEEF T 7 A= R 2 B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on REFING B A R wEx
translation of financial statements of EECIERETE
overseas subsidiaries (11,557) (10,522)
Total comprehensive expense for AEELXHBAZHAE
the year (278,041) (375,212)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continueq)

SEERZEREMEZEKRER B

For the year ended 30 June 2020 B E2020F6 H30H I F/Z
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: EhEEAFEEREE:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE N (260,484) (360,927)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M (6,000) (3,763)
(266,484) (364,690)
Total comprehensive expense for EhAAEEEMBA A
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Z N (272,955) (371,005)
Non-controlling interests FEVE R (5,086) (4,207)
(278,041) (375,212)
Loss per share attributable to AATBEEAELERER
owners of the Company
- Basic (HK cents) —E KR CGENM) 17 (1.47) (2.66)
— Diluted (HK cents) —85E CF) 17 (1.47) (2.66)




68

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED A& 5= R EMR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF mEMBARRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2020 R2020%F630H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt FHET FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R kKRG 18 171,065 191,135
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 19 24,219 =
Intangible assets EREE 20 164,435 142,743
Goodwill EHES 21 6,522 -
Investment properties wEME 22 530,634 553,020
Derivative financial instruments ESHIA 37 5,483 =
Deposits, prepayments and & ENRER
other receivables H {th & 5K IR 26 47,146 473
Total non-current assets IERBEELTE 949,504 887,371
Current assets REBEE
Inventories A 24 856 3,449
Trade receivables U & 5 BR 3R 25 5,347 7,296
Deposits, prepayments and e BNRER
other receivables H {th fE U FRIB 26 66,864 52,747
Contract assets BHEE 31 140 =
Bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 38,804 83,652
Total current assets MENVEERTE 112,011 147,144
Current liabilities REBEE
Transfer fee payables EffEe s 27 28,496 26,693
Trade payables FET & 5 BRK 28 16,420 23,394
Accruals and other payables JE 5T RIE K E A FE 5 5B 29 143,620 124,358
Deferred capital grants IERE & AR 30 544 564
Contract liabilities aHaE 31 6,671 29,136
Borrowings = 32 482,621 130,004
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 7,093 =
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 685,465 334,149
Net current liabilities REBEERE (573,454) (187,005)
Total assets less current liabilities BEAFERBRIBERS 376,050 700,366
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

GREMBERREK &)

As at 30 June 2020 R2020%F6 A30H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FHET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Accruals and other payables JE 5T RIE K E A FE 5 5B 29 15,088 4,547
Deferred capital grants i IE & AR 30 12,860 13,913
Borrowings B 32 4,821 84,512
Lease liabilities HEAFE 33 22,260 =
Deferred tax liabilities REFIAE & E 34 20,792 21,885
Total non-current liabilities EREEEEE 75,821 124,857
NET ASSETS EEFH 300,229 575,509
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital f& 7 35 177,100 177,100
Reserves G 35 149,647 419,841
Equity attributable to owners of the KAEEB AEEER
Company 326,747 596,941
Non-controlling interests I IR A 2 (26,518) (21,432)
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 300,229 575,509

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 157 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 30 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhao Wenging
HE
Director

EF

FOOCERISTE LAV BRREARFES
2 R2020F9 A308 #it i M IR E T - WA

TIHEERREE

Huang Dongfeng
HRE
Director

BF
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RERDA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2020

ZF 20206 H30H IFF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREEAEE
Share Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium* reserve reserve* reserve losses* Total interests Total
i REE  ERRR  EXGG  BRERE  ZHER & FRRER st
Notes ~ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
if3 TET AT AT AT AL AT AL AT AT
At 1 July 2019 201957 A1R 177,100 1,563,733 6,510 (82,919) 4398  (1,071,881) 596,941 (21,432) 575,509
Recognition of equity-settled FezZb\ g%
share-based payments  BIRGAAREZ
expense ST 36 - - - - 2,761 - 2,761 - 2,761
Total comprehensive TEERERRLR
expense for the year - - - (12,471) - (260,484) (272,955) (5,086) (278,041)
At 30 June 2020 202056 A30A 177,100 1,563,733 6,510 (95,390) 7159 (1,332,365) 326,747 (26,518) 300,229
At 1 July 2018 201857 A1R 109,741 1,250,779 6,510 (72,841) - (710,954) 583,235 (17,225) 566,010
Issue of consideration BIRERR
shares 35 8,326 78,288 - - - - 86,614 - 86,614
Issue of shares completion  ERk5eAL &R (A
of rights issue 35 59,033 236,134 - - - - 295,167 - 295,167
Transaction costs BRIRR 2 RARA
attributable to
rights shares - (1,468) - - - - (1,468) - (1,468)
Recognition of equity-settled H32L\ Rt E b1
share-based payments i AER
expense IES T 36 - - - - 4,398 - 4,398 - 4,398
Total comprehensive TEERERRLR
expense for the year - - - (10,078) - (360,927) (371,005) (4,207) (375,212)
At 30 June 2019 #2019567308 177,100 1,563,733 6,510 (82,019) 4398 (1071881 596,041 (1432) 575500

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Y RERBRAKGAVBHRRRP ZEAMHE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FERERER
CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FHET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KETHZ2HER
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation B 251 BT B 18 (271,683) (363,050)
Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs B & pR AN 33,187 28,008
Interest revenue PSR & (7,803) (771)
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREETE
equipment 15,875 16,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEZTE 4,710 =
Fixed assets written off W oHE B E - 3
Amortisation of intangible assets m A EEHE 84,331 76,583
Share-based payments expense ARG D BER Z R 2,761 4,398
Profit on sale of players’ registration HEXEEMZEFR (115,543) (42,133)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EBREEZREERE 393 14,746
Fair value change on investment BEMEZAFEES
properties 22,386 (23,160)
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWWE SRR 2B 3,042 252
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B E SERFREEEZ
receivables # ol (164) (299)
Impairment loss on other receivables HE AR 2 B EEE 1,577 =
Impairment loss on goodwill EEZREER 2,212 =
Fair value gain on derivative financial PTESBMIAZ AT EKR
instruments (5,544) -
Share of loss a joint venture BliEeE X2 EE - 46
Operating cash flows before working BEECEHRII2KERER
capital changes (230,263) (288,630)
Change in inventories FEZEg 2,539 2,865
Change in trade receivables EE SRRz &8 (1,108) 11,631
Change in deposits, prepayments and %4 - T8 15 7RI K H i 8 Y 7%
other receivables B2 & (39,756) (3,944)
Change in trade payables ENE SRR E (6,298) 10,613
Change in other payables and accruals — E fth f& - 5RI8 & fE 5T 3008 2 & 45,073 21,757
Change in deferred capital grants RN W =) (560) (578)
Change in contract assets EHNEEZES (140) =
Change in contract liabilities EHBEZEY (22,029) 5,155
Net cash flows used in operating KRETHFFAZEESRFE
activities (252,542) (241,231)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

RERERERE)

HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHZ2HESR
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and WM - E R&E
equipment (1,821) (4,790)
Payment of investment properties BWEMEZ N (48,326)
Acquisition of intangible assets WEERLEE (89,137) (130,025)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B A R 38(a) 226 =
Proceeds from disposals of intangible — HE&&#FEE 2 {538
assets 92,038 70,820
Investment refund from joint venture HHEAECEZRRBIFEER
due to deregistration - 986
Interest received 2 W F & 7,803 771
Net cash flows used in investing REZHFAABRSRFE
activities (39,217) (62,238)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEZHZ2HER
ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from rights issue HAR 2 T8 5RIB 558 - 293,699
Proceeds from new borrowings BRI IE 310,955 284,500
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEAE (4,206) =
Repayment of borrowings EEER (33,135) (236,004)
Interest paid EFE (22,999) (22,114)
Net cash flows generated from METHEECRSRTBE
financing activities 250,615 320,081
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN ﬁﬁwﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ B
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W) IEE (41,144) 16,612
Cash and cash equivalents at E%ﬂzijﬁh%&fﬁﬁﬁfﬁlﬁ B
beginning of year 83,652 69,221
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& 3 & &)~ 5/ 2 (3,704) (2,181)
Cash and cash equivalents FRz2ESRESEHEEE
at the end of year 38,804 83,652
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH H&RBESZEERA 2
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EER DM
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 38,804 83,652
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2020

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Birmingham Sports Holdings Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The registered
office and the principal place of business of the Company is
disclosed in the Corporate Information section of this annual
report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its major subsidiaries are engaged
in the operation of a professional football club in the UK,
properties investment in Cambodia and provision of lottery
system and online payment system services solution.

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars for the
convenience of users of the consolidated financial statements
as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, as modified by revaluation
of investment properties and certain financial instruments,
which are carried at their fair values. They are presented
in HK$ and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$’000) except when otherwise indicated.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(b) Going concern basis

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$260,484,000 for
the year ended 30 June 2020 and as at 30 June 2020
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$573,454,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months given that (i) the Company has entered
into a loan facility agreement and a supplemental facility
agreement with a controlling shareholder of the Company,
Trillion Trophy Asia Limited (“Trillion Trophy”), on 21
December 2016 and 21 December 2018, respectively,
under which an unsecured revolving loan facility up to
HK$250,000,000 has been granted to the Company (the
“Trillion Trophy Facility”); (i) the Company has unsecured
loan facilities with aggregate amount of approximately
HK$510,955,000 from third party lenders; and (iii) the
financial support of the controlling shareholder of the
Company, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. The controlling
shareholder of the Company has agreed to provide
adequate funds to the Group.

As at 30 June 2020, the total carrying amount of the
borrowings under the above facilities of the Group was
approximately HK$481,694,000. As at 30 June 2020,
the Group had available approximately HK$279,261,000
undrawn borrowing facilities.

In addition, the Group has obtained a secured loan facility
up to a maximum amount of GBP17,312,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$165,200,000) from a bank on 23
September 2020.
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. RBEE(E)

(b) Going concern basis (Continued)

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on the going concern basis. Should the Group
be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to
its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2019. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards; Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group’s financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years except as
stated below:

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a
single on-balance sheet model to recognise and measure right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain recognition
exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify leases
as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as
in HKAS 17.

HKFRS 16 did not have any significant impact on leases where
the Group is the lessor.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1 July
2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of consolidated statement of financial
position on 1 July 2019, and the comparative information was
not restated and continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and
related interpretations.

(a) Adjustments recognised on adoption of HKFRS 16

The following table shows the adjustments for change
in accounting policy recognised for each individual line
item. Line items that were not affected by the changes
have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and
totals disclosed cannot be re-calculated from the numbers
provided.
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HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Non-current assets FREEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 10,034 10,034
Current liabilities RBEE
Borrowings B® 130,004 (4) 130,000
Lease liabilities HEAE = 1,117 1,117
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings B 84,512 (4,632) 79,880
Lease liabilities HEEE 13,553 13,553

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases which
had previously been classified as “operating leases” under
the principles of HKAS 17 “Leases”. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. The weighted average
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 July 2019 were ranging from 8% to 11%.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of operating lease commitments to
lease liabilities

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
3. RMHIRKEITEEUBREER
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FET
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Finance lease payable FENRERE 4,636
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Discounting ARIR (58,090)
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Current lease liabilities mEHE B & 1,117
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14,670
The associated right-of-use assets at the date of initial RURERBBHERERESE
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-
date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received.
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

Identifiable assets and liabilities

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess
of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would
be required if the previously held equity interest were

disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as
that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the

acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s

identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the

entity operates (the “functional currency”).

consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Group’s presentation

currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or

loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

. Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

° Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

e All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land and buildings 1% - 10%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the

term of the lease, or

20%

Furniture, fixtures and office 20% - 33%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20% - 33%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property
including property that is being constructed or developed
for future use as investment property is measured initially
at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the

property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value based on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
the investment property are recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land 1%
Buildings 33%
Equipment 33% - 50%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(f)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at the
date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives as follows. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The amortisation expense is recognised
in profit or loss and included in administrative and
operating expenses.
Software 10 years
Acquired players’ registration

Costs of acquisition of players’ registration are initially
recognised at cost at the date of acquisition and amortised
over the period of the respective player’s contract,
being between one to five years. A provision is made in
accruals, where in management’s opinion, the club is likely
to achieve a contractually agreed number of first team
appearances. Where the outcome of this is uncertain, the
maximum amount payable is disclosed as a contingent
liability.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Acquired players’ registration (Continued)
For the purposes of impairment testing, acquired players’

registration are classified as a single cash generating unit
until the point at which:

° it is made clear that the player no longer remains
as an active member of the playing squad. In these
circumstances the carrying value of the players’
registration is reviewed against a measurable net
realisable value; or

° the carrying amount of a registration will be recovered
through sale. The measurement of such registration is
at the lower of (i) fair value (less costs of disposal) and
(i) carrying value. Amortisation of such registration
is suspended at the time of reclassification,
although impairment charges still need to be made if
applicable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following category:

()  Financial assets at amortised cost:

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

e BRI )

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
4. FESTHBERGE)

(i)

)]

BARTBRASHMIA(F)

BEEBMANNEECETER
B BUBSKERR T BRRE R
BE-TEHEATHAEGBZERE
BEHEENREZENERHER

EREE
HEREEEEREBEALET
MAENKERREEEARBAT
SRR ENHBRARZN - BIEF
BERRXHBEEERARLRE
IR W TR A FEMEE
BHERXHRARER  EZAFE
FRABRmMRE AR - B R
AFEFABENRENEERE
HRBRARNERIBEER o

AEEMNEMEED BATE
Rl

() HRBEBHXAIEHSRE
=

[R5 & T 5 IR R A &
RMEE (BREERE SRR R
H At 8 YR IR) & AR R Ut

*i .
£l

- ZBEBEETR-EAR
REBEENEIAH
RanmEBRAPE
B Rk

- ZREBEENRHOGRE
BYHRNEERRELA
RIXNEERAREER

SRMENBELR -

BRAEEERAB RN EE
REERANGRBEES
BHERRETE -



87

£ 3% ANNUAL REPORT 2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)]

(k)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be measured
at amortised cost and the conditions of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair
value through other comprehensive income on initial
recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and
dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and contract
assets. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring
as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the
expected credit losses that result from default events on
that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(k)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(p)

(a)

(r)

(s)

®

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities relate to amounts received from
sponsorships and sale of season tickets and is released
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period to
which it relates.

Capital grants

Grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Grants and donations received in respect of safety work
and stadium developments are initially recognised as
deferred capital grants in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the assets to which they relate.
Football Trust grants received are released to profit or loss
when the related expenditures are incurred.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference to
the customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the

payment of termination benefits.

(x) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees and directors

Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s share option
scheme, the Group may issue equity-settled share-
based payments to participants including, among others,

directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect

of non market-based vesting conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

4.

(x)

(v)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees and directors
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will continue to be held in share
options reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FESHBE(E)
(z) Taxation (z) #HiE

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount

of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities

on a net basis.

(aa) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) Related parties (Continued)

B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(bb) Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not
yet available for use are reviewed annually for impairment
and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except goodwill, investment properties, investment,
inventories and receivables to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(cc)

(dd)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are
dealt with below).

(a)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the financial support of Trillion Trophy and
three third parties and the facilities at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the Group.
Details of which are explained in note 2.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax for investment
properties, the Directors have rebutted the presumption
that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:

(a) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values
are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
which was determined by either based on fair value less
cost of disposal method. The fair value of the assets were
determined by management based on recent market
transactions. The market approach involves a direct
comparison of the assets being appraised to similar assets
that have sold in the same or in a similar market.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The directors of the Company periodically review its
receivables to assess whether impairment exists. In
determining whether impairment should be provided,
the directors of the Company evaluated individually each
account for impairment after taking into account the value
of each client account’s underlying collateral and the latest
financial position of those clients in default of settlement.

Player transfer costs

Management has to make certain judgements as to
whether a liability should be recognised under the terms of
the contracts with other football clubs in respect of player
transfers. This includes whether in the management’s
opinion, at the end of the reporting period, the football club
is likely to retain English Football League Championship
status in the next season. It also requires certain
judgements as to whether a player will continue to make
the contractually agreed number of first team appearances.
Based on these judgements, management will decide on
a player by player basis as to whether the liability should
be disclosed as a contingent liability in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements or whether it becomes
a liability and is recognised in transfer fee payable in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Intangible assets - acquire players’ registration

At the end of each reporting period, the management
considers the recoverability of the acquired players’
registration based on current estimated fair values.
Management considers the economic life of the players’
registration to be between one to five years, based on the
respective players’ contracts. These are reviewed annually
on a player by player basis to determine whether there are
indicators of impairment. Determining whether the players’
registration should be impaired at the end of the reporting
period is based on management’s judgement of whether
the player will no longer remain an active member of the
playing squad and an assessment of the football club’s
likeliness to retain English Football League Championship
status in the next season as well as the current market
value of the players.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets - trademark

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the
Group completed its annual impairment test for trademark
by comparing their recoverable amount to its carrying
amount as at 30 June 2020. The Group has conducted a
valuation of the trademark based on its fair value less cost
of disposal. The impairment test has resulted in recognition
of impairment loss of HK$393,000 on the trademark for
the year ended 30 June 2020. The carrying amount of
trademark as at 30 June 2020 was HK$12,720,000. This
valuation uses the relief from royalty method to determine
the present worth of future after-tax royalties derived from
ownership. Management believes that any reasonably
foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions
would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
trademark to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.
Further details are given in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of intangible assets - software

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability
of its intangible assets — software arising from the Group’s
business combination, which is included in its consolidated
statement of financial position at 30 June 2020 at
HK$17,347,000. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets approved
by the directors for the next five years and with reference
to an independent valuation performed by ValQuest
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited. Key assumptions used by
the management in the discounted forecast cash flows
calculation of the cash generating unit include budgeted
revenue and profit margins. The pre-tax discount rate used
for estimating the value in use is 51%. The impairment
test has resulted no impairment loss for the year ended
30 June 2020. Further details are given in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill as at 30
June 2020 was HK$6,522,000. Further details are given in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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R RS AR M R ()

Z{F 20206 H30H IFF/E
5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued) 5. BER¥EREEMET (&)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(i) Fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair values of the investment properties.
In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions.

(j) Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the fair values of the derivative financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period were based
on a valuation conducted by an independent firm of
professional valuers using probabilistic flow method.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing loans, and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise funding for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors of the Company reviews and agrees
on policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

(a) Foreign currency risk

Certain transactions and monetary assets and liabilities of
the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars which
is different from the functional currency of the Group
entities, i.e. GBP, RMB and USD, which expose the
Group currency risk. The Group currently does not use
any derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure
to currency risk. The management manages its foreign
currency risk by monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rate and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s businesses are mainly located in the UK and
are mainly transacted and settled in Pound Sterling, as
such, the Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. (“Celestial
Fame Cambodia”) and Deep Blue Trade (Cambodia) Co.,
Ltd. (“Deep Blue”), two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, are engaged in properties investment business
in Cambodia and are mainly transacted and settled in
US dollars. Since Hong Kong dollars is pegged to US
dollars, the risk of volatility between US dollars and Hong
Kong dollars is limited and the directors of the Company
consider that the foreign currency risk is minimal.

Wangmei Online (Beijing) Information & Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (“Wangmei Online”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, is engaged in provision of lottery system and
online payment system service solutions and is mainly
transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, which is
not freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign
exchange transactions involving RMB must take place
through the People’s Bank of China or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The exchange
rates adopted for the foreign exchange transactions are
the rates of exchange quoted by the People’s Bank of
China that are determined largely by supply and demand.

Interest rate risk

The Group did not have any long-term loans with a
floating interest rate during the years ended 30 June 2020
and 2019, so the Group was not exposed to the risk of
changes in market interest rates.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of (i) bank balances and cash and (ii)
trade and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

*

The English translation of the company name is for
reference only. The official name of the company is in
Chinese.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following information is
used:

° internal credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° significant changes in the value of the collateral or in
the quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

e  significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the
payment status of debtor.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60
days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 360 days
past due. Where loans or receivables have been written
off, the Group, if practicable and economical, continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loan
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.
Category Definition Loss provision
Low risk of default and
strong capacity to pay

Performing 12 month expected

losses
Non-performing  Significant increase in
credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

All of non-trade loans are considered to have low risk
and under the ‘Performing’ category because they have
a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payment, was as follows:
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. SRERERE)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d REBELER(Z)
Financial Risk Management THEREEE
Liquidity risk JEB) & % 2 8
At 30 June 2020 202056 A30H
Within one In the third
year or on Inthe to fifth years, Over
demand second year inclusive five years Total
RE=ZFZE
R—%R EHE
FERER RE-F (BREERWE) BENE Y]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Transfer fee payables ENEgE 28,496 - - - 28,496
Trade payables ERESER 16,420 - - - 16,420
Accruals and other payables  FEzt 3B R E M ER A 143,620 15,088 - - 158,708
Borrowings BX 482,621 2,785 1,859 177 487,442
Notional interest on ERESE I ZEHFIE
transfer fee payables 380 - - - 380
Interest portion of borrowings &3 2 Fl 82617 24,372 - - - 24,372
695,909 17,873 1,859 177 715,818
At 30 June 2019 12019464308
Within one In the third
year or on In the to fifth years, Over
demand  second year inclusive five years Total
RE=FZE
R—FR EREF
FIREK REZF (BEEEF) BENE Fkd
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FAT FAT
Transfer fee payables ENEgE 26,693 - - - 26,693
Trade payables ENE SRR 23,394 - - - 23,394
Accruals and other payables Bzt 2038 K E A fE 1 5008 124,358 4,547 - - 128,905
Borrowings BX 130,004 79,702 18 4,792 214,516
Notional interest on EREEE I ZEHFIE
transfer fee payables 1,484 - - - 1,484
Interest portion of borrowings &2 Fl 827 14,922 2,493 1,386 15,983 34,784

320,855 86,742 1,404 20,775 429,776
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)
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6. TREMBERE)
(d) RBESER(E)

Categories of financial instruments TEITAEF
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets: TREE :
Derivative financial instruments TESmTE 5,483 =
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEK A E 2 B E
(including cash and cash equivalents) (B#ER 4 MRS ZEELR) 152,468 138,377
Financial liabilities: TRBE -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  ZEER AT E 2 SR EE 691,066 393,508

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The following
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy
that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy

R RS AR M R ()

& F 2020456 A30 H 1 /E
7. AFEFEE)
(@ RFEERFE

Fair value measurements using Total
Description FEANTHAZEZ
it DEEE FoE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
E—R EZR E=H/  2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value REMEDFHETE
measurements:
Investment properties KEYE
Commercial and residential EEREE
— Cambodia — R - 530,634 530,634
Derivative financial instruments MTEEmTE - - 5,483 5,483
Total recurring fair value REMDNTESAEZLE
measurements - 530,634 5,483 536,117
Fair value measurements using Total
Description FRATE AR
fiiadt REEFE et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
FE—1 BE-R E=4 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value KREMEDTHETE
measurements:
Investment properties BEME
Commercial and residential EEREE
- Cambodia — R 5E - 553,020 553,020
Total recurring fair value REHDNTESELE
measurements - 553,020 553,020
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on

e BRI )
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7. AFEIFE#E)

(b) REZE=RIZELFEFTEZEE

level 3: H#HR -
Derivative
financial
instruments
TESRMIA
HK$'000
FET
At 1 July 2019 F201947 A1H -
Acquisition of a subsidiary U EE T A A -
Fair value gain recognised in profit or loss (#) RIESER 2 A FEREH) 5,544
Exchange realignment bE X P& (61)
At 30 June 2020 7202046 A30H 5,483

(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at 2020

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements

The Group’s finance team is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial officer reports directly to

the board of directors of the Company for these fair value

measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and

results are held between the chief financial officer and the

board of directors of the Company on a regular basis.

Level 3 fair value measurements

(#) HEF ARR20205 458 2 B E W=

HEE

) AEEFRADIGEREFRRF
18 51 2 A7 58 29 18 18 7 1l K ) A

B 1R

AEBOPHEHBABERTHERE
ETMENEERBEZATE
AR (BEE=RKATEFSE) -
MBREREERATEFERR
AARREEGER MIB5EE
BARBEEEEHANREER

FFREBER-

E=Q|ATENE

Effect on
Unobservable fair value for
inputs increase of inputs
Description Valuation technique FA8E Range BARBEMY 2020 2019
Ha fhERH PN ¢ #E NTEHYE 20205 20195
HK$°000 HK$'000
A7 TET
Derivative financial Income approach Probabilities on 4% to 25% Increase 5,483 -
instruments, profit contingent -4% t0-25%  Decrease
guarantee compensation
iTESRIA WA ARBEEHEE  4%5256% S

— MR

-4%%-25%

#
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
7. AVEIFE#E)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) AEBATHRAEE) G EFEFRAF
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value 18 51 & AT £ 5 89 12 18 5 17 e 8 A

measurements (Continued)

Level 2 fair value measurements

BRI ()

E-MATEHE

Fair value
ATE
Description Valuation technique Input 2020 2019
iR fhE BT BWARBE 20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Commercial and Market comparable Price per square 530,634 553,020
residential investment approach meter
properties
FEREEREME M5 B FEHKES
8. REVENUE 8. Wz
Revenue represents amount receivable for goods sold and W THERNE B X ARER MINPRF
services provided to external customers in the normal course HEE G RIRHEIRSE 2 EIWRIE A K%
of business and rental income from investment properties, after EMEZHSWA  EHBRITHETE
deducting discounts and exclude value added tax or other sales M ER S H M EREAERIE - NE
related taxes. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is BzERNRKRZILHTEHYNWOT -

as follows:
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e BRI )

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. Wz (&)
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Disaggregation of revenue: Waa3E
Recognised at a point in time RE — b5 2 7E:7
Commercial income HE PN 34,399 39,132
Match day receipts REHIWA 21,547 23,708
55,946 62,840
Recognised over time R — BRI A FER
Commercial income HE PN 14,406 16,564
Broadcasting EE 86,895 81,053
Match day receipts DREH KA 24,198 28,663
Lottery and online payment system FE MR R R R RIS
solutions service BRIR T B 2,323 -
127,822 126,280
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEF&H == 183,768 189,120
Revenue from other sources H A 30 2 Ut &
Commercial income (SEON 22,950 16,670
Rental income AU A 24,811 4,647
47,761 21,317
231,529 210,437
Revenue from contracts with customers comprise: HEBRAN I

(i)  Match day receipts

- Match day receipts for the football match are
recognised when the match was held.

— Match day receipt for sales of season tickets are
recognised on a yearly basis.

(i) Broadcasting

—  Television and broadcasting income are recognised
over the contract period.

() IREHUKA

— KREMEZHEARARSE

TTIRERHER -

- HEEFMRZHEBREKA

RERER

(i) EHE

- BRMEBRBARALHRE

EE %/‘u ©
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8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. W (&)
(i)  Other commercial income (i) Al EE LA
- Shop sales, catering and programme sales are — EHEE ZERREEE
recognised when control of the products has been HEREMZEHEDEZ X
transferred or when the services are rendered. PR AR 7% s T 3R o
- Advertising and sponsorship are recognised over the — RBEREBPNEAHREER -

contract period.

(iv) Lottery system and online payment system service solution (iv) FHERGRERNKEZGZERT
3

- Lottery system and online payment system service — HEZGRESNRERGRE

are recognised over the contract period. RERNRAE L EIHEER -

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. oEER

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTRBEERTEFERRIFES
by operating segments, based on the information provided to BREALUREDRER T H 20 R h
the chief operating decision maker representing the Board, for HRBHEEMELR 2 AEFIRKEE D
the purposes of allocating resources to segments and assessing EEID 2 W R EE DT - NEB IR

their performance. This is also the basis upon which the Group BUEH 582 EELTHE AR -

is arranged and organised.

The Group has three (2019: two) reportable and operating AEEHEA =8 (20194 : M@E) A 2
segments are as follows: WMEEEDEAT

(i)  operation of a professional football club in the UK, i) MRERLLEHREECRRE

(i) investment in properties, and iy WMEIKE K

(i) provision of lottery system and online payment system (i) REXERZHRREGETRRELGR

service solutions. TERRIRTTZR o
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

e BRI )
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9. ZEMER(E)
e ES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

AT BAREE Y R RERT 2HEL

LN D 2D

Lottery
system
and online
payment
system
For the year ended H£2020%6830H Football  Investment service
30 June 2020 IHFE club in properties solutions Total
RESSR
AR
RIRHRE MIERE BRAAR FoE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FEr FEx FET FET
Segment revenue 2 EB L
External sales HIMHE 204,395 24,811 2,323 231,529
Results E
Segment results DEEE (186,519) (514) (8,461) (195,494)
Interest revenue B 16
Other income Hiplg A 232
Corporate expenses TEER (46,099)
Share-based payments expense  LAR{D AERE 2 (M35 H (2,761)
Finance costs BE KA (27,577)
Loss before taxation BrAiATES 1R (271,683)
Income tax credit FTiSfif e 5,199
Loss for the year REFERE

(266,484)
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AWEH(E)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEW R EE(E)
For the year ended E 220196 A30H Investment in
30 June 2019 IEFE Football club properties Total
EXIRE YR E 1
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue 7Bk =
External sales HINHE 205,790 4,647 210,437
Results B4
Segment results DEFEEA (310,737) 27,343 (283,394)
Interest revenue F B U 49
Other income H AUk A 922
Corporate expenses EER (54,205)
Share-based payments expense VARR (D B ER 2 5 (4,398)
Finance costs B E AN (21,978)
Share of loss of a joint venture EiHEaECEZER (46)
Loss before taxation MR B BB 1R (863,050)
Income tax expense FIS i i (1,640)
Loss for the year RFEEZEE (364,690)

Segment results represents the profit or loss incurred by each
segment without allocation of certain interest revenue, other
income, corporate expenses, share-based payments expense,
finance costs, share of loss of a joint venture and income tax
credit/(expense).

N

DERERENBERDEE T HEMK
g HAWA - EER - UBRHAE
BRI BEKRAK  BIEEEDR
EZ2EBEBEMEHRIES, () ATk
RZm M EEZEIE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

e BRI )

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
9. ZWMEHR(E)
THEERAE

TIRAKEEERARE

1R 23 K 4

F

LN D 2D

Lottery
system
and online
payment
system
Investment service
Football club in properties solutions Total
KEABR
EHMAR
AR
BIRRE MIERE BRAR LR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 30 June 2020 M2020F6 A30H
Segments assets DEEE 454,888 530,635 37,213 1,022,736
Segments liabilities au= 1=K (1,314,420) (508,371) (23,356) (1,841,147)
As at 30 June 2019 ®2019%F6 A30H
Segments assets DEEE 411,919 553,028 - 964,947
Segments liabilities N =R (1,122,490) (521,765) - (1,644,255)
Reconciliations of reportable assets and liabilities: AE2ZREERBBEZYHE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AIZ2WN ez EEAE 1,022,736 964,947
Unallocated corporate assets RAMRREE 38,779 69,568
Consolidated total assets REBEME 1,061,515 1,084,515
Liabilities aE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AIE2RHElz BEEE (1,841,147) (1,644,255)
Elimination of payable to corporate ER Y A RNGTF e F O]
headquarters 1,611,405 1,325,352
Other liabilities Hih B & (531,544) (140,103)
Consolidated total liabilities e BEEE (761,286) (459,006)
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The following is an analysis of geographical location of the
Group’s (i) revenue from external customers; and (i) non-current
assets presented based on the location of operations and
geographical location of assets respectively.

(i) Revenue from external customers

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
9. ZEMERE)
& & K

THRAREE)REINFRS 2 Wt
R()ERBEE 2RI - ThDRIR
BREWHNEEZWRZS -

(i) XKENBEFZ Yz

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
The UK T
Revenue from contracts with HEBEE4) 2 W
customers:
Recognised at a point in time AR — B 2h R 55,946 62,840
Recognised over time R—E R AR 125,499 126,280
Revenue from other sources E A ROR 2 Wz 22,950 16,670
204,395 205,790
Cambodia SRIpEE
Revenue from contracts with HEEL4 W :
customers:
Recognised over time R — R fE A R 2,323 -
Revenue from other sources H bR 2 Wz 24,811 4,647
27,134 4,647
231,529 210,437
(i) Non-current assets (i) FREBEE
2020 2019
2020F 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Hong Kong B8 17,679 9,090
The PRC 2] 30,292 244
Cambodia RIHE 530,634 553,020
The UK B 370,899 325,017
949,504 887,371
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e BRI )

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
10. OTHER INCOME 10. Hpug A
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Subsidies received from the Premier BEREEBRERBMEES 2
League (Note (i) & (H1a(0) 7,116 7,002
Reversal of provision for directors' fee ERRe 2 BHED 199 232
Government subsidy (Note (i) RSB (BaEdi) 6,741 -
Foreign exchange gain, (net) SNPE YR 2R - CFEE) - 470
Sundry income TN 593 1,099
14,649 8,803
Notes: Hia -

11.

()  During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group’s professional
football operation received funding of approximately
HK$7,116,000 (2019: approximately HK$7,002,000) from the
Premier League in the UK under the Elite Player Performance
Plan upon fulfillment of certain terms and conditions.

(i) This primarily represents a subsidy of HK$6,741,000 (2019: nil)
granted by the UK Government due to the outbreak of novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and lockdown in the UK.

() MEE2020F6A30H IFEE &
EEHBERKREERE THERAK
IR ERZ - IRIEBERBRIRE RIE
BE B RS RR TR R
B E £ #7,116,000 JT (20194 :
#97,002,000/8 L) °

(ih TEERABEBEZHAUBRES
(COVID-19)% 15 & & 78 2 B B T
% H 2 4 896,741,000 7T (2019

F|E) o

FINANCE COSTS 11. BERAX
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Interest expenses on: INTEBEZMBERXE

- Other borrowings —HER 27,381 21,978
- Notional interest on transfer fee payables —EREeBE 2 ZH5ME 3,714 5,566
- Finance lease —BEMEL - 464
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 2,092 -

33,187 28,008
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

12.

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Income tax credit/(expense) in consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 A30H 1 &
12. FigBER(XH)

FABREMEMEERERAZMER
e,/ (XH)E -

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FAET
Deferred taxation: IEREFLIE
Current year KEFE 5,199 (1,640)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising from Hong Kong for the
two years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax in the UK (“Corporation Tax”). Corporation Tax is calculated
at 19% of the estimate assessable profit for the year ended 30
June 2020 (2019: 19%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. No provision for profits
tax is made in other jurisdictions as the subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions have no assessable profits for the years
ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

The reconciliation between the income tax credit/(expense) and
the loss before taxation is as follows:

A A BN E E20204F K% 20194E6 A
30 B Lt 4F [Z U £ A B S BE A FE R R
Al BB RS TAE L B -

NEBPER 2 KB AR ESMNEE D
=B (TRER]) - #ZE20209F6H30H
LIEFE 2 R TIRGFT ERE R 2
19%5t & (20194 : 19%) -

HthelkigEmELEZHBERBBEAE
PR Z BT R E - AREEMANE
ERKL B RRREE20205F K
201996 4301 I FEHE (TR
wmAl o MR IR A B AR 2 A5
TR -

FrisBiEe, /() BBRHATBEZ
HERMT

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FHET

Loss before taxation B 7% A& 18 (271,683) (363,050)
Taxation calculated at respective EHEEBEFER Z AEMERTE

domestic statutory tax rate 2 FRI8 52,694 66,393
Effect of income not taxable and BARBWA RTINS H 2

expenses not deductible WIS E (21,371) (17,483)

Tax losses surrendered for group relief FARRTERIRER 2 HIEEE (480) -

Tax effect of temporary differences not AERE R ZRE 2 %

recognised 4,479 (720)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE MR (30,123) (49,830)

Income tax credit/(expense) Frefiime,/ () 5,199 (1,640)
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the

e BRI )

B 220206 H30H 1FF/E
13. XFEEE

AEEBRENGGIA) TH8R

following items: 1RER
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRA(BEESFZHE) !
remuneration):
— Salaries and wages (excluding share- —TITERE® (TEREARSL
based payments expense) REMRZNRZH) 318,312 313,062
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions  — iR K 18 F| 51 21 it 3k 34,162 37,386
352,474 350,448
Share-based payments expense AR BER 2 R H
— Directors — %5 1,214 2,068
— Employees —E8 1,547 2,330
2,761 4,398
Total staff costs B I A5t 355,235 354,846
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ERN BN & 1,375 1,299
Amortisation of intangible assets M A EEH 84,331 76,583
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEEXEZTE
equipment 15,875 16,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 4,710 =
Litigation claim settlement (Note (i) FAAREMEE (A 20) 510 =
Minimum lease payments under LEMENIE T 2 xEHEKIE
operating lease in respect: (Note (ii) (BT a2 (i)
— Properties — W% - 6,850
— Others —H A - 2,344
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEETH 5,446 -
Cost of inventories recognised as expense R AR < 2 175 K 4 15,452 18,374
Impairment loss on goodwill R 2 R EEE 2,212 =
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment R SERREERE
loss) on account receivables, net CREBEZ#E) @ F5 2,878 (47)
Impairment loss on other receivables H MR BR B 2 R E 1B 1,577 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets BEREEZREER 393 14,746
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net SNEEE, () - F5E 488 (470)
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

A claim was filed by a former director of the Company,
against the Company in May 2013. The Company made a
counterclaim against him in October 2013. The case has
been transferred from the Labour Tribunal of Hong Kong to
the High Court of Hong Kong in 2013. In December 2019,
the Company have reached full and final settlement with
the former director. An order for dismissal of all claims and
counterclaim has been granted by the court on 5 December
2019. The settlement sum of HK$510,000 was recognised
during the year and included in administrative and other
expenses.

After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 July 2019
as detailed in note 3, the Group as a lessee, is required to
recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Under this approach, the comparative information is not
restated.

(i)

(i)

HREMBHRRMET )

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
13. XEEFE(E)
Hat -

RARZAEER2013F5 ARARA
AR AR - AR A ER2013%F10
ARAfFRERER - EERGFER
2013 F A EBLERHEERTE
B S H AR o W20195FE128 AR
RIEFEREK DB LR -
ABT B R20195F12 A5H 8 £ sl
FTERRERBER-FA EHR
MRS 5E510,000/8 7T © W E A ATT
BREMASZA -

20197 A1 8 ] 1A #E R Kt 7E3FT
HzEAREER  AKE (EA
EEAN) ERREREEENE
MmIEL AR AR E GRS
REEAEETEEZHER I
K-MBEBZAE IREMTRE
Bl o
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors,

disclosed pursuant the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

FEMBHRRMET )

B 220206 H30H IF FEZ
14. EEE2

RE A £ R R E B R ARG
BOENHENTEEZME2MT

For the year ended 30 June 2020

BZ202056F30H L FE
Salaries, Share-
allowances Retirement based
and benefits  Discretionary scheme  payments
Fees in kind bonus  contribution expense Total
(Note (v)) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
¥4 28R DR RER
he  BUER BMEEL BAGEMT 2ARZH @it
(Hiw)  (HEw) (&)
Name of director Notes ~ HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE4R fizt FEx FET T FEx FEx T
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Zhao Wenaing (Chairman)  #30& 7t (£/8) - 2,048 - 75 607 2,730
Mr. Huang Dongfeng ERELE
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TRE%) - 2,048 - - 607 2,655
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong hEBLA - 294 - 14 - 308
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng EREESE - 940 - - - 940
Dr. Guo Honglin PAMELS (i) - 1,143 - - - 1,143
- 6,473 - 89 1,214 7,776
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BRErE 213 - - - - 213
213 - - - - 273
Independent non-executive BIFHITES
directors
Mr. Pun Chi Ping AaTrA 208 - - - - 208
Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christne ~ 2BE&Z+ 208 - - - - 208
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat BEELE 0] 127 - - - - 127
Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond ILEBEE (i) 32 - - - - 32
575 - - - - 575
Total g 848 6,473 - 89 1,214 8,624
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 14. EEME (&)
For the year ended 30 June 2019
BE2019F6A30R L&
Salaries,
allowances Retirement  Share-based
and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonus  contribution expense Total
(Note (v)) (Note (v)) (Note (vi))
e 2ER PARR IR AL
we  BEWEN  BETL RAHEER  2HFRXH @5t
(Watw) (W) (BEw)
Name of director Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BSfA it FET FET FET FET AT AT
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhao Wenging (Chairman)  #3XU& 5% & (£ /) - 1,995 150 - 1,034 3,179
Mr. Huang Dongfeng BERALE
(Chief Executive Officer) (TTE#H) - 1,995 150 - 1,034 3,179
Mr. Yiu Chun Kong hEBLAE - 266 20 13 - 299
Mr. Hsiao Charng Geng BRELE - 900 40 - - 940
Dr. Guo Honglin SEMEL (i) - 171 S - - 171
Ms Chan Yuk Yee REERL (iv) - 387 30 15 - 382
- 5,664 390 28 2,068 8,150

Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Sue Ka Lok BRELE 266 - - = = 266

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors

Mr. To Yan Ming, Edmond HRIELE (i) 201 - - = = 201

Mr. Pun Chi Ping EAT R 201 - _ _ _ 201

Ms. Leung Pik Har, Christine ~ 2E2E#+ 201 = = - - 201

603 - — — - 603

Total g 869 5,664 390 28 2,068 9,019

Notes: Htat -

()  Appointed on 8 November 2019. () TF2019F11A8HEZE -

(i)  Passed away on 28 August 2019. (i)  PA20199F8 A28 H @kttt o

(i)  Appointed on 3 May 2019. (i) F2019F5HA3HEZ T -

(iv) Resigned on 3 May 2019. (iv) H2019F5H3HBHT °

(v) The Directors’ emoluments are determined by the Board and v) EZEMNETIBREZTERARAH
the Remuneration Committee of the Company with reference MEEeLERERNAEBNRSE
to their duties and responsibilities with the Group, the Group’s EEG NEBHREREREHL
performance and the prevailing market situation. METE °

(vi) Discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the annual viy BBREADNBEASEFTFEEER

results of the Group and the employees’ performance. BEMIEREME -
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15. THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

e BRI )

B 220206 H30H IF FEZ
15. EBBEHFMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group do not include any
directors and member of senior management of the Company
during the year and last year. The emoluments of the highest

paid individual are set out as below:

RAFERELFERN  AEELERS
FMALTETERENERAEERS
REEENXE - ZERZSFHALZH
ST

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FAET

Basic salaries and allowances e R REYEF 53,245 79,264
Discretionary bonus BB TE4L 3,329 320
Retirement benefit scheme contribution RIRET IR 7,749 10,861
64,323 90,445

The emoluments of the 5 highest paid individuals during the
year (2019: 5) fall within the following band:

REAFEARL (2019 : AR) &S
FMALTZBEN FUATEE :

Number of individuals

HK$12,000,001
HK$12,500,001
HK$13,000,001
HK$13,500,001
HK$14,000,001
HK$14,500,001
HK$21,000,001
HK$27,500,001

- HK$12,500,000
- HK$13,000,000
- HK$13,500,000
- HK$14,000,000
- HK$14,500,000
- HK$15,000,000
- HK$21,500,000
- HK$28,000,000

12,000,001/ 7T — 12,500,000/ 7T
12,500,001 7T — 13,000,000/ 7T
13,000,001 7T — 13,500,000/ 7T
13,500,001 7T — 14,000,000/ 7T
14,000,001 7T — 14,500,000/ 7T
14,500,001 7T — 15,000,000/ 7T
21,000,001/ 7t —21,500,0007% 7T
27,500,001 7T — 28,000,000 7T

AE
2020 2019
20204 20194
1 —_
3 —

During the year ended 30 June 2020, no emoluments were paid
or payable to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of office (2019:

nil).

REE2020F6 A0H ItFER » W
EXNREI N z2ME T B &S5 M
AT EREEMAREESERELR
EBAL 2 BE(E (20194 « &) ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

16.

17.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 30 June
2020 and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of the reporting periods.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$260,484,000 (2019: HK$360,927,000) and the weighted
average number of 17,710,022,508 (2019: 13,589,382,012)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, the computation
of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of share
options as they would decrease the loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company and have anti-dilutive effect.

R RS AR M R ()

Z{F 20206 H30H IFF/E

16.

17.

(9=}

H £20204 N2019%6 A30H IFE E
SR SREIREE - MBERSHRE
WERRTARE -

KAREEAREBRES

FREXEE
ERERNGEBIIEAARESR AEAS
£ N E518260,484,0007% 7T (20194 :
360,927,000 7t) &k A B 17 % A
R% hn e S 35 #17,710,022,508P% (2019
4 1 13,589,382,0120%) 5T & o

GREBTERE
B £2020%F k201946 A30R It 4
- ARTTEERERR D A RRHEE
ANEIEBRER  BAREREEZE -
Hut R et B8 E B 1R I B RRE
ARREFETTIE ©
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e BRI )

B 220206 H30H IF FEZ
18. W% -BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and
Land and Leasehold office Motor
buildings improvements equipment vehicles Total
1R BENZ G %8
L & RfARE "E BE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
s AT TAT TET TAT AT
COSTS KA
At 1 July 2018 1201857 A1H 247,767 9,634 84,555 6,105 348,061
Additions AE 178 - 3,042 272 3,492
Written off s = = (35) - (39)
Exchange realignment AR (8,578) (32) (2,801) (165) (11,576)
At 30 June 2019 and 1201956 4308 &k

1 July 2019 201957R18 239,367 9,602 84,761 6,212 339,942
Arising on acquisition of a REERBARRES

subsidiary 37 - 315 42 - 357
Additions NE - - 1,821 - 1,821
Written off A (392) (767) (60,759) (2,731) (64,649)
Exchange realignment R (8,749) 1) (1,165) 92) (10,027)
At 30 June 2020 1202056 A30A 230,226 9,129 24,700 3,389 267,444

ACCUMULATED RitTERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 1201857 H1H 64,472 1,081 67,860 3,691 137,054
Charge for the year KEETH 5,851 4672 5211 1,013 16,747
Written off s = = (32) - (32)
Exchange realignment [E 5 (2,372) (14) (2,435) (141) (4,962)
At 30 June 2019 and 1201966 A30A &

1 July 2019 2019%7R18 67,951 5,689 70,604 4,563 148,807
Charge for the year REEZH 5,388 4,205 5,604 658 15,875
Written off s (392) (767) (60,759) 2,731) (64,649)
Exchange realignment AR (2,630) (18) (922) (84) (3,654)
At 30 June 2020 14202064308 70,317 9,129 14,527 2,406 96,379

CARRYING VALUE RAE
At 30 June 2020 14202064308 159,909 - 10,173 983 171,065
At 30 June 2019 1201956 A30H 171,416 3913 14,157 1,649 191,135
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EAREEE
2020
20204
HK$°000
FET
At 30 June: K6 H30R :
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Land —+i 7,191
- Buildings —EF 14,538
— Equipment — &1 2,490
24,219
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash AEBHEEEENAUBRERE
flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: FEBER AT -
— Less than one year ——FR 9,476
— Between one and two years ——FEWF 8,235
— Between two and five years —WEERF 7,883
— After five years —hF% 77,840
103,434
Year ended 30 June: HE6H308 ILEE ¢
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREESECZITEERR
- Land — i 96
— Buildings —BgF 2,129
— Equipment — kB 2,485
4,710
Lease interests HEFE 2,092
Expenses related to short-term leases HAHEERERS 5,446
Total cash outflow for leases MEZBRSRLEE 11,744
Additions to right-of-use assets FRHEEERE 19,268
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20.

e BRI )

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BLEE
Player’s
Registration  Trademark Software Total
REEM L B4 FoE
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Kz FET FET FET FET
Cost B
At 1 July 2018 2018%F7H1H 268,072 472,660 - 740,732
Addition NE 75,594 - - 75,594
Disposal HE (83,078) - - (83,078)
Exchange realignment [E 5, A% (9,096) (16,354) - (25,450)
At 30 June 2019 and 1201956 A30H &

1 July 2019 2019F7A1H 251,492 456,306 - 707,798
Addition NE 103,429 - - 108,429
Acquisition of a subsidiary U8B — K KB A 7 37 - - 18,953 18,953
Disposal & (86,947) = = (86,947)
Exchange realignment b 5, 2 (9,675) (16,700) (29) (26,404)
At 30 June 2020 #202056 A30H 258,299 439,606 18,924 716,829

ACCUMULATED Rt B RAE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2018 720187 H1H 100,042 443,666 - 543,708
Amortisation for the year AN E 76,583 - - 76,583
Impairment losses REEE - 14,746 - 14,746
Disposal HE (50,182) = = (50,182)
Exchange realignment R (4,095) (15,705) — (19,800)
At 30 June 2019 and 20196 H30H &

1 July 2019 20197 H1H 122,348 442,707 - 565,055
Amortisation for the year — ZANFE S 82,737 - 1,594 84,331
Impairment losses BEEE - 393 - 393
Disposal HE (76,498) - - (76,498)
Exchange realignment b H s (4,656) (16,214) (17) (20,887)
At 30 June 2020 7202056 A30H 123,931 426,886 1,577 552,394

CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 30 June 2020 7202056 A30H 134,368 12,720 17,347 164,435
At 30 June 2019 720196 H30H 129,144 13,599 - 142,743
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss as follows:
Players’ registration = Based on respective players’ contracts
terms from 1-5 years

Software 10 years

Trademark Not amortised

The players’ registration is considered to have a useful life
ranging from 1 to 5 years and is tested for impairment at the
end of the reporting period.

Any players whom BCFC, a subsidiary of the Company, do not
consider to be a long-term part of the first team squad and
who will therefore not contribute to future cash flows earned
by BCFC are assessed for impairment by considering the
carrying value with BCFC’s best estimate of fair value (being
post year-end sales proceeds or expected sales proceeds)
less costs of disposal. No impairment was made for the year
ended 30 June 2020 (2019: nil).

The trademark was acquired in the business combination
of Birmingham City PLC, which is considered to have an
indefinite useful life and was tested for impairment as at the
end of the reporting period.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of the trademark for the year ended 30 June 2020. The
recoverable amount has been determined based on its fair
value less costs of disposal, with reference to the valuation
prepared by an independent professional valuer, JP Assets
Consultancy Limited. The fair value less costs of disposal of
the trademark falls within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The
valuation technique used to measure the fair value less costs
of disposal is the relief-from-royalty method, which determines
the present worth of future after-tax royalties derived from
ownership. Indication of value is developed by discounting
future after-tax royalties attributable to the trademark to their
present worth at market-derived rate of return appropriate
for the risks of the trademark. The valuer adopted a pre-tax
discount rate of 26.31%.

The impairment test has resulted in impairment loss on
trademark of approximately HK$393,000 in the year ended 30
June 2020 (2019: approximately HK$14,746,000).

R RS AR M R ()

Z{F 20206 H30H IFF/E

BVEE (&)

(i)

(i)

(il)

Wiz -

BHNBERERND

HEHM BREEMEREZANF
H1-6F 1 H

LGRS 104
k3 T

BR B M 2 Al 6 A AR B F
1265 - W Rl B AR AE TR E R

Al ©

AR AR 7 M B A AIBCFCT 17
BB SRz REKE MY
BCFCHRELZ KRR & M2 R E B
ZEE  HegETREFNG AR
& B IR E E EBCFCY A F (& (A
FELEH% 2 E TS RE R TEH 8
EMERE) BEEKR A2 XEM
5t o B 2202066 A308 IF FE -
REENEMELRE (2019F ) ©

2 Ty FABirmingham City PLCZ 3
BEHRIKE  WREAEEERA(E
R - SR RS AR TR E A

Al ©

AEED 2B EIEE E202056 F
0B L FEZ AT E &5 o Al 4R [E
SN2 EB L EEGEMETE
EERMERARZMHE  KBEATF
BREEXNAEE - BEAFER
HERABRATFEBERE=E -
BRAEAFERHBEXEAZ(EE
RitAeBBTEFEREE 25
Nt BEmERESZ KRG T %
BEEEAENTARKEMB -EBEE
12 75 8 A2 JE A R SR KR B 18 45 B
FRAERERREIZRR 2 TST
A EHEELIDEHIBE o HERK
B2 BE A2 B K A26.31% °

A BRI 58 BUEL 2202066 A30H
12 IR 2 R E B 1E £393,0007%
JC (2019%F : #914,746,000/ L) °



128

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED A& 5= R EMR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FEMBHRRMET )
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
21. GOODWILL 21. B8
Notes HK$000
it FET
COSTS A
At 1 July 2019 201947 A1H =
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary RUREEHT B A AR EAE 37 8,724
Exchange realignment Rk (14)
At 30 June 2020 7202046 530H 8,710
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSS ZtREEE
At 1 July 2019 MW2019F7A1H -
Impairment loss REEE 2,212
Exchange realignment M 5, 3 2 (24)
At 30 June 2020 20206 830 H 2,188
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 30 June 2020 20206 830 H 6,522
At 30 June 2019 201946 A30H =

As at 30 June 2020, amount represents goodwill allocated to
the cash generating unit (“CGU”) for provision of lottery system
and online payment system service solutions.

As at 30 June 2020, the recoverable amount of the CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation by an
independent professional valuer, who has staff members with
appropriate experience and qualifications. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period based on the
estimated production capacity of the CGU with a pre-tax
discount rate of 51%. Cash flows after the five years period
are extrapolated at 3% growth rate. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted revenue and
gross margin, which is determined based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the management of
the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of
HK$2,212,000 based on such assessment.

R202046 4308 * ZE EIEAIBHTY
=X G RESNRERRBRAT R
RIReELEM (ReEEBEN])
R -

2020F6 A30R © BEEEBMAYA]
KeEleBEERAEE BB RERET
B & EEEERIRREREESEE
TE o AT ERANEEE AN BTE
EAEEMNBESRETE  ZMEEE
AEAF  ERBRESELABNMNMGE
ERENIRGTATAN IR R51 %R - A%
HENEEREEIRNIEREHESL -
FEREEFENS —FTEBRRATEER
mREME  DIRBEZEMNATEER
EREEHMSERNBHET -

H E2020F6H30H It FE - K& H
EEEREZIGREAEEBREESE
2,212,000/ JT, °
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 22. BREYE
HK$'000
FET
FAIR VALUE AF¥E
At 1 July 2018 R2018%F7H1H 393,908
Additions NE 134,940
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIEEREER 2 AT EEE 23,160
Exchange realignment bE 5, A B 1,012
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 201946 A30H &2019F7A1H 553,020
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBFHERZ A FEES (22,386)
Exchange realignment PE 5 5 2 =
At 30 June 2020 7202056 H30H 530,634

The carrying amount of the Group’s investment properties
as at 30 June 2020 and 2019 were stated based on the
valuation conducted by JP Assets Consultancy Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer, on market value using
the existing use basis. JP Assets Consultancy Limited has
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation
of properties in the relevant locations. The loss arising on
changes in fair value of investment properties of approximately
HK$22,386,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 30 June 2020 (2019: profit on change in fair value of
investment properties of approximately HK$23,160,000).

As at 30 June 2020, investment properties of the Group
with fair values of HK$530,634,000 (2019: approximately
HK$553,020,000).

ANEERE W ER20204F M2019F6 A
AZEAENREBLAERESE
(HEMMETEERM AR QTR HIERE
AIRARBREEEITHEMERT - BT
BEBMBERATNBEABER KA
S ABRANL B W 2 2 85 o #Z2020
F6A30HIEFE HEMELTEE
E)FEE & 2 5 184722,386,00078 70 B A
BEER (2019F - REWMELNTFEE
) 7 % M #923,160,0005 7T ) °

R2020F6 A30H * REBIKEMEY
A 18 £&530,634,0007 7T (20194 :
#9553,020,000/8 7T) ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

e BRI )

# F202096 A30A I F/Z
23. FEMBEAF

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 KRN Al R20204F K%2019F6 A30H 2

June 2020 and 2019 are as follows: FEWBARFIBHOT :
Percentage of equity
Country of incorporation Particulars of issued attributable to the
Name of company and operation and paid-up capital Company Principal activities

NAER EMELREERR BETRAREARE A0RAEEREASL IEXE
2020 2019
20205 2019F
Directly hold
EERE
Birmingham City PLC the UK GBP8,150,000 ordinary  96.64% 96.64% Investment holding
B 8,150,000 4 L1k REER
Birmingham City Stadium Limited the UK GBP100 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
5H 100545 % &R NERE
Indirectly hold
BERE
Birmingham City Football Club PLC the UK (GBP6,252,838 ordinary  96.64% 96.64% Football club
B 6,252,838 4 LRk g
Birmingham City Women Football the UK GBP1 ordinary 96.64% 96.64% Football club
Club Limited HE R LR 2RE
Celestial Fame Investment (Cambodia) Cambodia US$1,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
Co., Ltd. RER 1,000,000 T L &R NERA
Deep Blue Trade (Cambodia) Co., Ltd. Cambodia US$1,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
REE 1,000,000 L& @ nERE
Celestial Fame Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary 100% 100% Properties investment
REREBRAT RBRUES 1ETERR NERE
Dooboo Tech Limited Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 100% 100% Provision of lottery
SRMRBRAF &R 10078 & R system and online
payment system service
solutions
REVERHRERNH
FRRBRASR
Wangmei Online (Beijing) Information & the PRC RMB16,925,926 100% - Provision of lottery
Technology Co., Ltd." (note (i) H ARH16,925,9267T system and online
BiSER (1R) BERHERAT payment systern senice
(W) solutions
REVERZHRERNH
FRRBRASR
Note: Wit

() A wholly foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC

with limited liability.

The English translation of the company name is for reference
only. The official name of the company is in Chinese.

(i)

ZEBANTBEKIZINEREEIN
EBERE -

RN EBERNBRN R RAIH
EABHWAHXEHE -
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23. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. FEMBAE (E)

The following table shows information of the subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

TREJNGEAHARBBEAZ FFER
e ([IFERERD) 2HBRARZE
£ B AN ERR A B R HER 2
T e

Birmingham City PLC

2020 2019
20204 20194
Principal place of business and FTEE BB REMKZBER the UK the UK
country of registration HE =
% of ownership interests and JEIEREREEHEEER
voting rights held by NCI ks sast 3.36% 3.36%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
At 30 June M6H30H
Non-current assets ERBEE 233,521 178,337
Current assets BN EE 289,286 312,339
Current liabilities mEAE (1,281,553) (1,105,758)
Non-current liabilities ERBAFE (30,480) (22,775)
Net liabilities BEFH (789,226) (637,857)
Accumulated NCI RS (26,518) (21,432)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Year ended 30 June B Z6H30HILEE
Revenue g #5 224,042 226,086
Loss for the year REEREE (178,570) (111,987)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEREEHEBIERE (151,369) (125,222)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEFERER 2B (6,000) (3,763)
Net cash used in operating activities KREEBMAZIRE FE (166,081) (177,041)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEESFIAZIR e F5E (28,297) (72,511)
Net cash generated from financing BEEHEE RS FE
activities 182,589 241,900
Net decrease in cash and cash RekBFeEEEB BRI FE
equivalents (11,789) (7,652)
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24. INVENTORIES 24. BE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Finished goods and goods for sale SURK on X2 36 dm 856 3,449
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EWE S RN
2020 2019
20204F 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables JE W & 5 BR X 8,227 8,194
Less: impairment loss recognised (Note (iii) & : B R BB E 18 (4772 3i)) (2,880) (898)
5,347 7,296
Notes: Hitaz
(i)  The average credit period of the Group’s trade receivables is () AEERKEZEZERZFHEEH
90 days (2019: 90 days). /908 (20194 : 90A) »
(i)  The aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date, () HEBEZAHELYHRRESEZ
net of impairment loss is as follows: BB SRR REDHTT
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30BA 96 1,457
31 days to 90 days 31HZE90H 2 1,068
91 days to 180 days 91H=E=180H 1,185 940
181 days to 365 days 181H£365H 4,064 3,831

5,347 7,296
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) The movements in the impairment on trade receivables during
the year are as follows:

R RS AR M R ()

E22020%F6 H30H IF FE
25 EWE SRR (Z)
Bz - (&)

(i) FRARKEZRFZBREZESHWT :

2020 2019

2020F 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEITT

At 1 July R7HA1H 898 1,060
Written off during the year FANFEH (805) (81)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised  [B11 2 #3203 (& &5 18 (164) (299)
Impairment loss recognised EERREEE 3,042 252
Exchange realignment FE 5 AR (91) (34)
At 30 June R6HA30H 2,880 898

(iv)  The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward
looking information.

(v) AEEEAEEVEREERENR
BT 2B ERBEHEERBEE
HEE - HAA R KRE 5 RREA
2HITRMEERE - R ERME
EEE BREBEZRAERERR
EERBREZLAMBAHESH - A
HEEERTESMELER -

Less than Over 90
90 days days past

Current past due due Total
gt ping:
BIHA 2 90H HBiBo0H wat
At 30 June 2020 A2020%F6 A30H
Expected loss rate TE H B 1R R - 1.7% 41.3%
Receivables amount (HK$’000) [EW & %8 (F/&T) 98 1,205 6,924 8,227
Loss allowance (HK$’000) BB E (FET) - 20 2,860 2,880
At 30 June 2019 A2019%F6A30H
Expected loss rate TEHEREIE X - - 19.0%
Receivables amount (HK$'000) FEW & %8 (F&7T) 2,525 940 4,729 8,194
Loss allowance (HK$’000) EBERE (T T) - - 898 898
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
26. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. B& BEAREREMEKRTE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Other receivables H th B U R 0E 109,849 47,429
Less: other receivables — non-current R A FE MG IE — JE R B
(Note (i) (H1a£3) (47,146) (473)
Less: impairment loss recognised (Note(ii) & : B W3R RE &8 (#17(i) (1,532) -
61,171 46,956
Deposits and prepayments e KB RIE 5,693 5,791
Amounts shown as current assets WERBEEZ &5 66,864 52,747

Notes:

Wiz -

(i) Included in other receivables are amounts of approximately (i)
HK$47,146,000 as at 30 June 2020 relating to transfer
fee of players which are classified as non-current (2019:
approximately HK$473,000 relating to sign-on fees for
acquisition of the players which are classified as non-current).

(i) ~ The movements in the impairment loss on other receivables (i)

during the year are as follows:

20206 A30H - H fth f& Y 5k 1A
B 4E 4947,146,000% 7T+ W Rk B
BeBEYHRRERDEE (2019
F  #9473,000/8 T8 K B TR B %%
MEBERLDBERIRBDEE) -

6 Py R A FE I RIE 2 R (B R
mF

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FETT

At 1 July R7HA1H - -
Impairment loss recognised EERREESE 1,577 -
Exchange realignment P& 5 A= (45) -
At 30 June K6 H30H 1,532 -
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27. TRANSFER FEE PAYABLES

R RS AR M R ()

E22020%F6 H30H IF FE
27. EHEEE

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FAET

Transfer fee payables [ENEeE
— Within one year ——&R 28,496 26,693
28,496 26,693

All transfer fee payables are stated at amortised cost that
approximately equal to their fair value.

28. TRADE PAYABLES

The aging analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date

FBERNESBIRRAFERE 2 EH
P AN B R o

28. ENEZRMK
BNESERFIZEZEARE D 2R D

is as follows: MR :
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Within 30 days 30HIA 4,169 9,180
31 days to 90 days 31HZE90H 1,769 7,579
91 days to 180 days 91H=180H 5,857 3,154
181 days to 365 days 181H%365H 4,625 3,481
16,420 23,394

The credit periods of the Group’s trade payables normally
granted from suppliers averaging at 90 days (2019: 90 days).

AEBZENE SRR —RERERS
T¥H90H 2 EEHI (201946 : 90R ) °
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29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

e BRI )

ZF 20206 H30H IFF/E

20. EETRARHEMEN KR

2020 2019

20204 20194

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

k23 FETT FET

Accruals FEET A (i) 124,268 70,110
Consideration payable ERRE 37 21,944 -
Agent'’s fee payables FEfT 4L N B R 12,496 10,469
Amount due to GRED &S GREDZRIE - 48,326
158,708 128,905

Less: Amounts due after one year i : R —FE &3 H 2 FKIE (i) (15,088) (4,547)
Amounts shown as current liabilities FI/ERENBE 2 £ %8 143,620 124,358

Notes:

(i) Included in accruals are amounts of approximately
HK$1,317,000 (2019: approximately HK$202,000) relating to

accrued directors’ remuneration.

(i) Agent’'s fee and selling fee of approximately HK$15,088,000
(2019: agent fee approximately HK$4,547,000) payable for the
acquisition of football players is due after one year according
to the transfer agreement of players.

(i)  Accruals and other payables are all non-interest bearing.

30. DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

Hat

() EBAREEEEHEEFESMEZ
FXIE 491,317,000 7T (20194 : 4

202,000/ 7T) °

() BMBRBHREERNELAEZERAREE
2 F#915,088,0007 7T (20194F : i
4 42 N B 3 494,547,000/ 7T) -
BERBKEZESH AR —FEE

5o

(i) FEFTRIEREMEMNRIBH TR ©

30. EEE AU

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
To be released: 14 8% 8] 2 FRIE:
— Within one year —— %R 544 564
— After one year ——F1& 12,860 13,913
13,404 14,477

Deferred capital grants relate to the redevelopment of the
football stadium located in Birmingham, the UK. The grant has
been treated as a deferred grant and is being amortised in line
with the depreciable assets to which it relates.

BT B AR R T R E B R AL R B A
A2 RIS HRE - BEKTIRMEETER
R BEEABCATHEEERS#

H °
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
31. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 31. EHNEEREE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: W IE B R
At 30 June At 30 June At 1 July
2020 2019 2019
R20204 R20194F R20194F
6H30H 6H30H 7H1H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Contract assets - Lottery system BRHEE-FERFN
and online payment system ERRETIRES
service solutions business fRIR Ty FRETS 140 - -
Contract liabilities - football club AHAE - RIS EK
business (6,671) (29,136) (24,969)
Revenue recognised in the year REVEFABHEEZ
that was included in contract FEEERZME
liabilities at beginning of the year 24,244 24,969 =

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations
unsatisfied at end of the year and expected to be recognised as

revenue in:

DREFRAARTXNELHEELTAS
RN FEERR/RENZZER

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Year ended 30 June 2020 HZ20206F6A30H IEFE - 29,136
Year ended 30 June 2021 HZE2021F6A30B ILFE 6,671 -
6,671 29,136
Significant changes in contract assets during the year: RNEBEHNEEZEANE
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Increase due to operations in the year A& R E RS 140 =

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for products or services that the Group has

transferred to a customer.

BREERAEBRIKERERN - A
ERAEFEZEMIRBEHRS -
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e BRI )

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) 31. EHNEEREE(E)

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: NEBENBRBZEKNED :
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
As at 1 July R7A1H 29,136 -
Transfer from deferred income B R IREEA - 24,969
Increase due to operations in the year S EET il 2,282 35,899
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue EEA& LB EZWR (24,311) (30,739)
Exchange realignment b 5, A % (436) (993)
6,671 29,136
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer AR BEAEEREEFEEAEED

32.

products or services to a customer for which the Group has

received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.

BEEPURMAE(RERRESHE) 2

EmERBEE-

BORROWINGS 32. EX
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k22 FET FETT

Other loan — unsecured: Hih B —EEH :

- Loan from Trillion Trophy — 3K & Trillion TrophyZ B (i) 66,197 66,197
— Loan from third parties —REE=FZEXK (i) 421,068 143,500
— Other loan —H i EK 177 183
Finance lease payable ERERE (iii) - 4,636
487,442 214,516
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 30 June 2020 and 2019, total current and non-current
borrowings were repayable as follows:

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
32. EXR(E)

R2020%F 201946 H30R » i &) J
FRBEFABEALRNATFHER

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Carrying amounts repayable: FEEE ZIREE -
— On demand or within one year —EERe—FR 482,621 130,004
— Between one and two years ——FERF 2,785 79,702
— Between two and five years —MEERF 1,859 18
— Over five years —REFELAE 177 4,792
487,442 214,516
Less: Amounts due within one B mEIBEMIR—FREE 2
year shown as current KIE
liabilities (482,621) (130,004)
Amounts shown as non-current FIESERBI BB &5
liabilities 4,821 84,512
The average interest rate at 30 June were as follows: MK6A308 2 FHFEFHHMAT :
2020 2019
20204 20194
Other loan - unsecured H A &5k — | 7.04% 6.84%

Notes:

() On 21 December 2016 and 21 December 2018, the
Company entered into a revolving loan facility agreement
and a supplemental facility agreement, respectively, with
Trillion Trophy to provide a revolving loan facility up to
HK$250,000,000 to the Company. The Trillion Trophy Facility
is unsecured, for a term up to 31 December 2020 and bears
interest at rate of 4.5% per annum. As at 30 June 2020, the
amount of the outstanding principal and interest payable under
the Trillion Trophy Facility were approximately HK$66,197,000
(2019: approximately HK$66,197,000) and approximately
HK$6,877,000 (2019: approximately HK$3,890,000),
respectively.

WiaE -

(i)

M20165E12H21 8 K2018%E12 A
218 » A2 & ETrillion Trophy%
AT BRERBE RS RE T
BmEHHE UAAQFIRERS
250,000,000/8 T EREZ G E -
Trillion Trophy®l & A& K4 - F H
HZE2020%12A318 » WIREH =X
4.5%zt B o 20206 H308 ©
ETrillion Trophy@ & 2 R EEARE
R I JE 7 B 9 Bl 49 266,197,000
77T (20194 : 4966,197,0007% 7T)
X #96,877,000/% Jt (20194 : 4
3,890,000/ 7T) ©
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
32. BORROWINGS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i

On 8 May 2018 and 18 November 2019, the Company and an
external lender entered into a standby loan facility agreement
and a supplemental facility agreement, respectively, pursuant
to which such lender provided a revolving loan facility up to
HK$250,000,000 to the Company (the “201805 Facility”).
The 201805 Facility is unsecured, for a term up to 30 June
2021 and bears interest at rate of 8% per annum. As at 30
June 2020, the amount of the outstanding principal and
interest payable under the 201805 Facility were approximately
HK$157,708,000 (2019: approximately HK$130,000,000)
and approximately HK$988,000 (2019: approximately
HK$2,670,000), respectively.

On 10 August 2018 and 11 March 2019, the Company
and an external lender entered into a standby loan facility
agreement and a supplemental facility agreement, respectively,
pursuant to which such lender provided a revolving loan
facility up to HK$250,000,000 to the Company (the “201808
Facility”). The 201808 Facility is unsecured, for a term up
to 31 December 2020 and bears interest at rate of 8% per
annum. As at 30 June 2020, the amount of the outstanding
principal and interest payable under the 201808 Facility were
HK$250,000,000 (2019: approximately HK$13,500,000)
and approximately HK$9,823,000 (2019: approximately
HK$1,108,000), respectively.

On 9 September 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group established in the PRC and an external lender entered
into a standby loan facility agreement, pursuant to which
such lender provided a loan facility up to RMB4,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,382,000) to a subsidiary in
the PRC (the “201909 PRC Facility”). The 201909 PRC Facility
is unsecured, for a term up to 9 September 2020 and bears
interest at rate of 5% per annum. As at 30 June 2020, the
amount of the outstanding principal and interest payable under
the 201909 PRC Facility were approximately HK$4,382,000
(equivalent to RMB4,000,000) and approximately HK$139,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB127,000), respectively.

e BRI )

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
32. EXR(#E)
Kizt - (&)

(i)

R2018%F5H8H &2019411 818
B ARQREINBERAD BT
HERAEXARERZRBTRE B
FoOB BEEERABARARIR
&R B 3 8 & & %250,000,000
7 7t ([ 2018058 & |) - 201805
& AT - FHH £2021F6
AB0H8 - I & F 7 E8%ET & o I
20206 A30H - 1R 152018058 &
CABERSHEEEMFED LD
£157,708,0007% 7t (20194 : %)
130,000,000 Jt) & #7988,000/%
7L (20194F : 492,670,000/ 7T) °

M201848 108 K20194E3 A 11
B ARREINBERAD BT
BERERBREHE B TRER
FoOBE AEERAMARQRR
AR B F A & & %250,000,000
7 7t ([ 20180888 & |) ° 2018088
& BEEIE - FH H 2020612
A318 @ W& F F E8%ET B o
20206 A30H * 1R #5201808FL &
ZAEBEASHERENTE DR
/250,000,000 7T (20194 : 4
13,500,0007% Jt.) & 499,823,000/
7T (20194 : 491,108,000/ 7T ) °

MR2019F9 A9 » KEE R+
Rz 2B B AR EINEE KA
FVERERRERS Bt B
BERARTBREZHBARREE
K& &% AR #4,000,0007T (48
£ 1 494,382,0007 7t) ([ 201909
FRERE ) - 2019097 & gt & &
K FHIH £202099H9H -
I 1% & F E5%ET B ° R2020%F6
A30H @ £ #201909% F gt & ~
KEEASSBEREMNFE D
#4) 54,382,000 ¢ (FHEN AR
4,000,0007T) K #9139,0007% 7T (18
ERH AR #127,0007T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
32. BORROWINGS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

On 18 March 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
established in the PRC and an external lender entered into a
standby loan facility agreement, pursuant to which such lender
provided a loan facility up to RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,573,000) to a subsidiary in the PRC (the
“202003 PRC Facility”). The 202003 PRC Facility is unsecured,
for a term up to 15 March 2021 and bears interest at rate
of 5% per annum. As at 30 June 2020, the amount of the
outstanding principal and interest payable under the 202003
PRC Facility were approximately HK$3,407,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB3,110,000) and approximately HK$28,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB25,000), respectively.

On 20 March 2020, a subsidiary of the Group established
in the UK and the Football League Limited entered into a
loan agreement, pursuant to which the Football League
Limited provided a loan up to GBP584,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,571,000) (the “Football Loan”). The
Football Loan is unsecured and interest free. The Football
Loan is repayable by six instalments commencing on 1 April
2021. As at 30 June 2020, the amount of the outstanding
principal under the Football Loan was approximately
HK$5,571,000 (equivalent to GBP584,000).

During the year, the Group adopted HKFRS 16 pursuant to
which the finance lease payable as presented in prior year was
reclassified as lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019.

As at 30 June 2020, the total carrying amount of the
borrowings of the Group was approximately HK$487,442,000
(2019: approximately HK$214,516,000). As at 30 June 2020,
the Group had undrawn borrowing facility of approximately
HK$279,261,000 available to it (2019: approximately
HK$424,303,000).

R RS AR M R ()

£ 2202046 30 A 1 F/E
32. EXR(E)
Hiat - (%)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(%)

MR2020F3H13H @ AEE R
Rz EENBAREINDERA
AIVEREREBE RS Bt &
BERARTRZHBARREER
AL E &% AR #6,000,0007T (17
£ 1A #96,573,0007% 7T ) ([2020037F
B gt & |) - 2020037 & gt & A& &=
A FHH 2021438158 -
I ¥ G F RE5%ET B o 72202046 A
30H © B 4#202003F E @t & 2 &
BEASCSEREMTEDRYD
48,407,000 7T (FHERH AR
3,110,0007t) & #J28,0007% 7T (18
LR ARB250005T) °

R2020F3A208 ' AEE K HEEH
B3z 2 Fff B A Al E2Football League
Limiteds] 32 & 3k # &% & it -
Football League Limitedig fft & %
584,000% £ (#H %5 1 495,571,000
BIL) ZER(TRBREK]) - BBk
ERAEERARGS - RHRERA
H2021F4A1HE D NEEE - ©
202096 A30H ' RHRE R Z K E
BARS L A5,671,0008 T (%
584,000 &) o

FR AEERNTEHE RS E
AIE165% - It RE—FE 27
WEMNREHEN2019F7A1HE
MoBRHBEERE-

MR2020F6A30H ' AE B E K
Z R AR 4 £487,442,0007% TT
(20194 : #9214,516,000/87T) ° K
20206 H30H * A& BB KR
Al B A E R FE 279,261,000/ 7T
(20194 : #7424,303,000/87T) °
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES

e BRI )

B 220206 H30H IF FEZ
33. HEEE

Minimum lease

Present value of

minimum lease

payments payments
RERS REHAESRE

As at As at As at As at

30 June 2020 1 July 2019 30 June 2020 1 July 2019

A2020%F 20194 A20204F 20194

6H30H 7THA1H 6H30H 7H1H

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

Within one year —FR 9,476 2,554 7,093 1,117

After one year but within five years —FEBREFER 16,118 6,757 10,375 1,383

After five years FFE 77,840 81,745 11,885 12,170

103,434 91,056 29,353 14,670

N/A N/A

Less: Future finance charges B RIREEE (74,081) (76,386) FEA N

Present value of lease liabilities HEARMEE 29,353 14,670 29,353 14,670
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 1218 A R E|EAEE

within 12 months (shown mesm (34

under current liabilities) REAE) (7,093) (1,117)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 B 2 £ Z| &S EH

12 months ] 22,260 13,553

At 30 June 2020, the effective borrowing rates are ranging from
4.5% to 11% (1 July 2019: 8% — 11%). Interest rates are fixed
at the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value

interest rate risk.

MR2020F6A30H ' EBR E R A =
N F4.5%=11% (2019F7 518 ¢
8%-11%) ° A ERE LB HEE -
S RNEBASZATFEFERRR -
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 34. EZEFHEEE

RiFEMBRARER ZBEERBARE
ZHAREBDERFERAZEEBMT

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

Revaluation  Revaluation  Revaluation
of Investment of land and  of intangible
properties building assets Total
Eff Effitih Eff
REME REF BREE k)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
ik FET FET FET FET
At 1 July 2018 R2018%F7A1H = 15,462 5,508 20,970
Exchange realignment I 5,20 - (535) (190) (725)
Charged/(credited) to MRE/ GIA) RABR
consolidated statement REM 2 EKEK
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income 4,631 (257) (2,734) 1,640
At 30 June 2019 120196 A30H 4,631 14,670 2,584 21,885
Exchange realignment B 3t A B - (557) (75) (632)
Arising on acquisition of a REEN B A RBEL
subsidiary 8/ - - 4,738 4,738
Charged/(credited) to MRE/ GIA) RABR
consolidated statement REM 2 EKEK
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (4,477) (228) (494) (5,199
At 30 June 2020 #2020F6H30H 154 13,885 6,753 20,792

At 30 June 2020, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$743,699,000 (2019: approximately
HK$572,937,000) available for off-set against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

R2020F6 308 * NEBEBRB AT
TA &5 18 #9743,699,0007% JT (20194 :
#9572,937,000/%8 Jr) A F {E K $5 K 2R
A o B R AR 2R Al i 2 LA TE R - Bk
B ABENIEEBEEREERIBEE
EHBETERALE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 35. RAEK &
Number of
shares Amount
g 4= -}
Note HK$’000
HraE FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEOB T E B
Authorised: JEIE ¢
At 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 1201946 H30H K&202046830H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR :
At 1 July 2018 R2018F7A1H 10,974,071,672 109,741
Issue of consideration shares BITRERD (i) 832,610,000 8,326
Issue of shares completion of AL SR 18 21T AR (D
rights issue () 5,908,340,836 59,033
At 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020 74201946 H30H &%2020%6H30H 17,710,022,508 177,100
Note: /}/94515 .
(i)  Details of movement in the issued share capital of the () BEAXRABEBEITRAZEE ZFIE

Company were disclosed in the Company’s 2019 annual
report dated 28 September 2019.

(@) The Group

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium - the application of the share
premium account is governed by applicable
regulations of the Cayman Islands.

Capital reserve — capital reserve represents the waiver
of amounts due to shareholder.

Translation reserve — translation reserve is arising
from the translation of foreign currencies in overseas
subsidiaries from the functional currency to the
Group’s presentation currency.

Share options reserve — the share options reserve
represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(a)

B R AR A B H A201949H28H
Z2019F FIRATHE ©

A%

(i)

(iii

(iv)

AEBRFREZBEREHRN
reaBakHEMEEmKaER
ANRGREEEEEKRET

B 7 4 (B — B 40 i B R 2 8
RXASREERRPIEE -

BEXfERE-—BEAREBEERR
JE A5 B R R IA -

EXHE-ELFEEEED
BRE G B A B 2 5N (T
BREE)EAREEZNNEE -

BhEFEGE-BREREGR
RYAKEESEREBZR
TEBREERNETHE
ZAFE REBEAMBR
R TE4 AR S E AR D B
ER T RAN ST HRE
TTHERR
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R RS AR M R ()

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
35. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 35. BRARGEE(&Z)
(b) The Company (b) &XAF
Share
Contributed Share Capital options  Accumulated
surplus premium reserve reserve losses Total
V-] RitiaE EAfRE  BRERE ZHEE g
HK8'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK8'000
FET AT & FET AT &
At 1 July 2018 R2018%7R1R 22,01 1,260,779 6,510 = (1,060,286) 229,204
Issue of consideration shares ~ EFTRERN - 78,088 - - - 78,288
Recognition of equity-setfled EANRELE R EEE .
share-based payments expense  ffZI%Hl - - - 4,398 - 4,398
Issue of shares completion of ~ HEREREETRA
rights issue - 236,134 - - - 236,134
Transaction costs attributable to — HRHA 2R BHA
rights shares - (1,468) - - - (1,468)
Total comprehensive expense  REEREHREE
for the year - - - - (306,424) (306,424)
At30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 7201963308 R2019%7A1H 22,01 1,563,733 6,510 4398 (1,356,710) 240,132
Recognition of equity-settled B RELENRA BER
share-based payments expense  fTEH, - - - 2,761 - 2,761
Total comprehensive expense  AFE2EEREE
for the year - - - - (101,984) (101,984)
At 30 June 2020 R2020%6530A 2,201 1,563,733 6,510 7,159 (1,458,694) 140,909
Notes: iz
(i)  Contributed surplus — the contributed surplus represents iy BABHKB-—BABHKRELES

the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
therefor. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the contributed surplus account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances.

(i)  Capital reserve — capital reserve represents the waiver of
amounts due to shareholder.
(i)  Share options reserve — the share options reserve

represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity settled share-based payments in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(ii

(i)

EEAEMEBHEARQTE
EARBAR/RBZENE R
AMBETZROEERE 2
ZR -REBHASHERRE
RRR AR THER T IAZA
BHRBRANZFIARRRIEL S
K

AAfRE-EARRIERRRE
AR KR -

BRERE -BRERESR
TAKBEEREER ZRITE
BREERKEFHEZAY
B RE&ZA M REN T4
VAR #5 B DA B A 4 B S A
RANH) S ST BORETTIER -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 December 2016.

On 6 December 2018, the Company granted share options to
eligible persons to subscribe for a total of 300,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company under the Share Option Scheme. The
exercise price of the share options granted was HK$0.1084
per share and the share options granted were exercisable in
three tranches. The first tranche amounted to one third of the
share options granted can be exercised beginning on the date
of grant and exercisable within a period of five years thereafter.
The second tranche amounted to one third of the share options
granted shall be vested on the first anniversary of the date
of grant and exercisable within the period of four years after
being vested. The remaining tranche amounted to one third
of the share options granted shall be vested on the second
anniversary of the date of grant and exercisable within the
period of three years after being vested.

On 23 April 2019, the Company completed the rights issue in
which 5,903,340,836 new shares on the basis of one rights
share for every two shares were allotted and issued at the
subscription price of HK$0.05 per rights share. The number
of share of the Company that can be issued upon exercise of
the outstanding share options and the exercise price of the
outstanding share options were adjusted in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme and the supplementary guidance
regarding adjustment of share options under Rule 17.03(13) of
the Listing Rules. The exercise price per share was adjusted to
HK$0.09736.

e BRI )

ZF 20206 H30H IFF/E

36.

BRETE

AR B R20165F12 4308 BT 2 AR
AIRFRBAFAE LM ARARZERERE
st 8l (THERRRERT 21D o

R2018F 12 A6H » AR &) 1B & I8 ik
EETEIAEERATRBBRE 7]
R B8 4 $£300,000,0000% & A &) X i@
% o PTi BB ARE 2 T E R TR M
0.10847 7T + P BB AR = (E#t Ik
7 - HEF E I RSERERLBRE=
D2 — BB B AR 1T
FERNEERFRNAITE - EPEH#
HERERIEBRE=S 2 —HERE
HRELARERAFESBREBEN
FRAITE - B THAHSEREREE
=52 —HWBRERRIZE BEM
RAFEREEBREBR=FANITE-

201944 A23H * AR A B 7K #
BB ARREERRBESRE
f& A% 190.0578 iR B F B MR R H A
B —RERR D EERE RET
5,903,340,8361% ¥ A& 17 o 7 i K17
AR /TR A T 31T 2 A D AR
HE RHARITERBREZITEEERE
BRI R ETRBIZE17.03(13) kA
FAREBRE R EoELHFAE -
AT EE FEZ0.09736/8 T °
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BRESE (#F)
Details of movements in the number of share options during the HZE2020F6 A30H IEFE - BEAREST
year ended 30 June 2020 under the Share Option Scheme are EITETEREZSBEZEFHOT
as follows:
During the
year ended
30 June
During the year ended 30 June 2019 2020
8220005
6430
BENOE6ANRLER LEE
Adjusted
exercise
price per Addition after
share due to adjustment  Outstanding  Exercised/
Name or Rights Issue Exercised/ ~duetoRights  at 30 June granted/  Outstanding
category of Exercisable period Exercise  Exercisable  Outstanding cancelled/ Issue ~ 2019and1  cancelled/  at30 June
participant Date of grant  (both dates inclusive) price (Note i) at1 July 2018 Granted [apsed (Nofe i) July 2019 [apsed 2020
20198
RithmaE RERETE  6A%AR kit %

AN18ETA BAE/  Bh2EM NOETREIR BEE/  RONE6R
RHATE BRE  2EE/&H i) HAGE CHE/AR NAMAGE

SRENR
LT RERE T8 (BEERAR)

Directors:
g2:
Mr. Zhao Wenaing 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2208042 22,268,042 - 2068042
BUERE WI8FE12A68 01812 A6BZANBE12750
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2,068,041 22,068,041 - 22,068,041
W19E12R6BZNBE12A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2,068,041 22,068,041 - 22,068,041
WNERREBZNBERASH
Mr. Huang Dongfeng 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 (.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2068042 22268042 - 208042
ERERE WI8FE12A68 01812 A6BZANBE12750
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2,068,041 22,068,041 - 22,068,041
W19E12R6BZNBE12A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 20,000,000 - 2,068,041 22,068,041 - 22,068,041
ANERREBZNBERASH
- 120,000,000 - 13608248 133,608,248 - 133,608,248
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 (.1084 0.00736 - 60,000,000 - 6,804,123 66,804,123 - 66804128
[E2 N1BE12A68  2018F12360 220235 12A5A
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 60,000,000 - 6,804,124 66,804,124 - 66,804,124
2019%12A68 22023% 12758
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.1084 0.09736 - 60,000,000 - 6,804,123 66,804,123 - 66,804,123
020%12A68 22023%1275H
- 180,000,000 - 0412310 200412310 - 200412810
- 300,000,000 - 3020618 334,020,618 - 334,020,618

Notes: Htaz -

(i)  As a result of the rights issue which was completed on () BRHERKRE R2019F4H23H 5%
23 April 2019, the exercise price of the share options was Bk - BRI 2 TTEER RIRERE
adjusted from HK$0.1084 to HK$0.09736 under the Share &l & AR RIZE17.03(13) kB #
Option Scheme and the supplementary guidance regarding B R AR M 2 #7848 5| R 0.1084 78
adjustment of share options under Rule 17.03(13) of the TLHAEEE0.09736/8 7T ° AITEER
Listing Rules. The number of shares of the Company that HETEEE TEITZARRRG
will fall to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share HEMEELAERE -
options were also adjusted accordingly.

(i)  The closing price per share quoted on the Stock Exchange on (i) BEBBRENR2018F12H6H F H
the trading date immediate before the date on which the share Al 2R 5 BEBZ AT HR 5KRRK
options were granted on 6 December 2018 was HK$0.111. T E R0A11ETT »

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2020, no share options had (i) P B E2020F6H30H IEFE » I
been granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share Option mERERERERESSERL

Scheme. TTE KRR -



148

BIRMINGHAM SPORTS HOLDINGS LIMITED A& 5= R EMR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continueq)

For the year ended 30 June 2020

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

e BRI )

B 220206 H30H IF FEZ
36. BRETE (Z)

The binomial option pricing model was used to estimate the
fair value of the share options. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair value of the share options are based
on the independent professional valuer’s best estimate. The
value of a share option varies with different variables and certain
subjective assumptions. The estimated fair value of the share

IR HARE T BE AL D MM A B IR AR
ZRFE - AEBREATERRZE
ERBRIVENBILEXMGEMZ &KE
fbat - BREZEESRETNRNZE
ETEIERRMED - BRERSTBEZ
REB#MZEFRFEAT

options on their respective grant dates are as follows:

Exercisable period

Fair value on

Share option type  Grant date (both dates inclusive) grant date
1T H RB\EHA#HZ
BRERR £ BH (BEEEWA) AFE
HK$
BT
Directors 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.03398
5= 201812 56H 2018F 12 A6 H £2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.03585
2019612 A6 HE2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.03727
202012 A6 H £2023F 12 A5H
Employees 6 December 2018 6 December 2018 to 5 December 2023 0.02380
E& 2018412 A6H 201812 A6 HZE2023F 12 A5H
6 December 2019 to 5 December 2023 0.02931
201912 A6 H £2023F12 H5H
6 December 2020 to 5 December 2023 0.03339

2020F12 H6H #2023 12 A5H
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For the year ended 30 June 2020

36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The inputs into the model in respect of the share options
granted were as follows:

R RS AR M R ()

Z{F 20206 H30H IFF/E

36.

WA B ()
SRR RE RN 2 8 AR
mF :

Share option type

BREER
Directors Employees
5% =
Share price on grant date ML B2 IRE HK$0.104 HK$0.104
0.104% 7T 0.104% 7T
Exercise price on grant date R B ZITEE $0.1084 $0.1084
0.1084/ 7T 0.10847 7T
Volatility 8 41.529% 41.529%
Expected life SRRt 5 years 5 years
5% 5%
Risk-free rate A8 [ B ) = 2.150% 2.150%

Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
comparable companies with business natures and operations
similar to the Company over the previous five years.

The Group recognised share-based payments expense of
approximately HK$2,761,000 during the year ended 30 June
2020 (2019: HK$4,398,000) in relation to the share options
granted by the Company.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 23 July 2019, Dooboo Tech Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire equity interest
in Wangmei Online, at a consideration of RMB20,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$21,944,000). Acquisition
of Wangmei Online would enable the Group to diversify the
revenue stream in online lottery system, offline lottery system
and online payment system service solutions and its investment
portfolio.

The acquisition was completed on 2 September 2019. The
Group obtained the control of Wangmei Online and it became a
subsidiary of the Group.

37.

RIEB T ERAEBEE R EERAREE
UZ A ELBRARNBERFAZES
R R T B E ©

HZE2020F6 A308 It FEHH - A&
B BN R A AT I 2 B PR i R A AR
D AERE 25 42,761,000 7T
(20194 : %94,398,000/87T) °

152 B Bff B A ]

R2019F7 A23H ' KRR 22 &K B
AEIZERFE AR A RWERIEERZ
2 EpRE - RE A ARE20,000,0007T
(HER 421,944,000/ 7T) - WEEREE
EREEDASEZTEERGEER
G BRYERGERESNRERRS
RFRZBMARBEREZEMRAS -

BRI R 2019692 K ° A
EENSRIBER ZIEHIERBBERS
RANERZHBAT -
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37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 37. WEKBAR(&Z)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed and
the goodwill arising from the transaction are as follows:

XS FAETHAEER A G ATE
R EE T HERFIMT -

Fair value
at date of
acquisition
RUEE B
AN |
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y - B KR EE 357
Intangible assets mLEE 18,953
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 226
Trade and other receivables B 5 M EMEKFRIE 456
Trade and other payables B 5 M E MRS FRIE (2,034)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAE B (4,738)
Net identifiable assets assumed Fr & nl s Bl & 2= 5 5R 13,220
Goodwill B 8,724
21,944
HK$’000
FET
Satisfied by: ERNTIFE R

Other payables (Note 38(a)) H {th &~ 5K IE (/7 2#38(a)) 21,944

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WBEEEZESRATE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriiE 2 Re RBEEEY 226
Net cash inflow e mAFRE 226

The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired is
approximately HK$456,000. The gross amount due under the
contracts is HK$456,000.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Wangmei Online
which engages in provision of lottery system and online
payment system service solutions services is attributable to
the anticipated profitability of the distribution of the Group’s
products in the new markets and the anticipated future
operating synergies from the combination.

FiBAZE Sk EMmEWGKE L AFE
49 £456,000/8 7T - RIFA LB 2 48
% 58 A456,00078 T °

WERFRHEERGNERNRES
RIGBARDRRBEONBEERELER
B DHRENTSS HAREERN
FEHR NG MR A FFEENARKE
& 195 R I FT 2K
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE2020F6 H30H IFF/E

37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 37. WEKEBAR(E)
If the acquisition had been completed on 1 July 2019, total ZUWEEEE R2019F7A1H 7
Group revenue for the year would have been HK$231,529,000, K BAEEAFERZARELA
and loss for the year would have been HK$267,834,000. The 231,529,000/ 7t * AN F E 1B A
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is 267,834,000/ T - tH E & BHE 7 5%

not necessarily an indication of the revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2019, nor is
intended to be a projection of future results.

Lottery system and online payment service solutions services
contributed approximately HK$2,323,000 and HK$8,461,000
to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year respectively for
the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

Derivative financial instruments
Profit guarantee arrangement

According to the share acquisition agreement dated 23 July
2019 (the “Agreement”), there was an arrangement of profit
guarantee whereas the vendor has undertaken to the Group
that the lottery business shall achieve a cumulative audited
net profit after taxation (“Profit”) of RMB30 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$32.9 million, the “Profit Target”) for the
three years from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022 (the “Relevant
Periods”). The parties to the Agreement further agreed that in
the event that the lottery business only achieves an actual Profit
for the Relevant Periods equivalent to 85% of the Profit Target
or below, the vendor shall compensate the Group an amount (A)
in cash calculated in accordance with the formula below:

A = (RMB30 million — actual Profit)/RMB30 million) x B, where
B is equivalent to the total amount of the Consideration and the
Capital Contribution)

The fair value of the profit guarantee was approximately
HK$5,483,000 as at 30 June 2020, which was determined
by the directors of the Company by reference to the valuation
performed by ValQuest Advisory Hong Kong Limited, an
independent professional valuer to the Group, based on
probabilistic flow method in which the cash flow for each year
represents the difference between the guaranteed profit and the
projected net profit. The directors of the Company estimated
the projected net profits of the acquired group under nine
different scenarios with respective scenario probabilities. The
fair value of the profit guarantee was the probability-weighted
average of the present values of the shortfalls between the
guaranteed profits and the projected net profits under the nine
scenarios.

AR TFA—FEXR~EKRBEER
20197 A1 HEMK @ AEEBERFESE

Mles RS RS - TEBIFRARKRE
ARTRR -

BRERAHEEREHR  LEEGR
ERNREGREERTERE DA
A5 B Ay e 25 I RS 1B B B 492,323,000
7 7T }2.8,461,00058 7T °

PTESBMTA

i F R % 2

R i% H B 45201997 A 23 H FR% & U B
&R ([Z&R))FAE&MNRILH -
BEARERAEEEE H2019F
7A18 E2022F6A30R = F H /M
([EMHAE] - FEXBRKEZE R
KMEZBRBEFRN (TEH]) AR
30,000,0007T (18 5 7 £932,900,0007#
T A BIED - ZARZEIHF#
—SRAE WEKEEBNARHAM
Z BB R FEZEREF B IZ285%3k LA
T BEABRAAEBENREEERET
FRANFTEZEREA)

A = ((A R #30,000,0007t — & & %
),/ AR #30,000,0007T) XB » Eh
BIHENRERHELE)

S R 1R 2B 202046 B30 H YA FE L
/5,483,000 70 ' VA AR RIEEL
EAREEB L EEMGEMPHET(FH
B)BRARIFTETHEER  REX
MELET  HPESFHRESRERE
REEE A EIAF R R E5E - AAA
EZRNABBTIRBRS BN ERMGE
Frik s £ BATEAF R - HFRER
AFEANEERT @ F55%F BT8R
Vv ) 2 FE O BR (B 2= SR RO R N 15
{E o
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38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
acquired the entire equity interest in Wangmei Online,
at a cash consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$21,944,000) from an independent
third party. The cash consideration was recorded in other
payables as at 30 June 2020.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

e BRI )

ZF 20206 H30H IFF/E

38.

(a)

(b)

RERERERME

FEFRERS

R E Z=202046 A308 Ik F
B AEBUBRESEKEAR
#20,000,000/% T (B E RN 4
21,944,000 7T) MBI E =&
WHERSTEE 2 228 Em o R
20206 H30H W& K EBE R
B E At FEUGRIA A o

METHMELEAEZHIER

TRAMAEEREZDAEL
ZEEEY BRRS LIRS
B -METHAELEZEEE
ELIBERARBRGARESN
BERDERBETIMERER
ENHRSRESARFRZRE

Other Lease Interest
borrowings liabilities payables Total
Hth & HEEE ERFE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
& FET FET FET
At 1 July 2018 20187 A1H 166,015 - 2,049 168,064
Changes in cash flows Rened® 48,496 - (22,114) 26,382
Non-cash changes Flsikry
- Interest expenses —F B - - 28,008 28,008
- Exchange Difference —ERER 5 - (1) 4
At 30 June 2019 7201946 A30A 214,516 - 7,942 202,458
Changes in cash flows Renes 277,820 (4,200) (22,999) 250,615
Effect on adoption of RNBBHBERE
HKFRS 16 ER|F165RMTE (4,636) 14,670 - 10,034
Non-cash changes FRe#
— Increase in lease liabilities —FEREIHMEE
from entering into new G e E
leases during the year =l - 19,268 - 19,268
— Interest expenses —FEZH - - 33,187 33,187
- Exchange Difference —-ERER (258) (379) - (637)
At 30 June 2020 14202056 A30H 487,442 29,353 18,130 534,925
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39.

40.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain bank credit facilities made available to BCFC were
secured by a fixed charge over a specific bank deposit account
of BCFC held with the bank. As at 30 June 2020, the balance
on this bank deposit account was GBP800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,634,000) (2019: GBP800,000 equivalent to
approximately HK$7,924,000)

COMMITMENTS
Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties. At the end of
reporting period, the future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable leases are receivables as follows:

R RS AR M R ()

Z{F 20206 H30H IFF/E

39.

40.

EEER

BCFCz & T iR1TH 588 E J3 LABCFC
RERTTHRERITEREPNEE R
ERIEIR o 7A2020F6 A30H @ % R1T
17 BR P 45 £ /5800,000% £ (B &R
#97,634,000/% 7T) (20194 : 800,000
T (FBE R 47,924,000/ 7T))

iR

REBVERY

EKEFERD LA
AEBHEEREYE - RMEHR
AAIHEH R S A IE T Z R RRIE
HAMREREET :

2020 2019

2020F 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within one year —FR 28,181 24,812
After one year but within five years —FRERAFA - 28,181
28,181 52,993

Operating lease income represents rental receivables by the
Group for its investment properties. Leases are negotiated for
a term of three years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms
and do not include contingent rentals.

REHERAEREBAEREYEE
Wele - EENBMA=F mEE
HRHES/BEE X IAER%AEE -
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41.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are
calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per employee
and vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

In addition to participating in national insurance contribution
for employees in the UK, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution scheme for the benefits of its employees.
All the contributions are based on a certain percentage of the
employee’s salary and are charged to the income statement
as incurred and have no further obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions made.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to
meet the required contributions under the scheme.

No forfeited contributions may be used by the employers
to reduce the existing level of contribution for the above-
mentioned retirement benefit schemes.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes amounting
to approximately HK$34,162,000 (2019: approximately
HK$37,386,000).

e BRI )

# F202096 A30A I F/Z
41. RIKEFFE
REBRBEEBRGIMEATED 5D

RTBEAERBSEERY —H®RH
MRAEeFE ([RESFE] - &K
@f”@&lﬁmwmﬁﬁw+%1
ﬂ’ﬁ#%ﬁ%lﬁ?mfmﬁ1%0
PEIT - AR [AI98 15 © 5T 8 1F B 5K
EHEBES -

BREENESSEBREBRHRIN
AEETREEESBN2EREH-KE
g - AT RERIENETED
Lhat® - WREAREWRRNR - B
BEERESSN - BARBRKEKOEHN
EEEMEE -

AEETEKBEARZEES R m%
ﬁﬁf%52$%@ﬁéﬁﬂ % Y
M&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ$%%&léz%
7 LE SRR ORAR 7 (7)o SRR & 51 &I it
K o 73 T AGE R %M B 2 R B Al
R BEMBRNKEBREERARER - M
T8 2 AL AP SRR R B R 8 2 ME—
ETRBE EMEL R EHRK -

REIWEA A 2 28 PWHFAR A L att
BRKENGEEZRA R -

H EZ2020F6A30B IEFEE » &
B MRKEAE E E DA HR
%) 534,162,000/ ot (20194 : &9
37,386,000 7)) °
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42.

43.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Player transfer costs

As at 30 June 2020, under the terms of certain contracts with
other football clubs in respect of player transfers, additional
player transfer cost would become payable if certain specific
conditions are met. The maximum amount not provided that
could be payable in respect of the transfers up to 30 June 2020
was approximately HK$59,476,000 (equivalent to approximately
GBP6,233,000) (2019: approximately HK$43,513,000,
equivalent to approximately GBP4,393,000).

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions and balances with
related parties during the year:

()  During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
entered into a master lease agreement with Ever
Depot, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GRED.
Rental income charged for the year amount to
approximately HK$24,811,000 (2019: approximately
HK$4,647,000);

(i)  During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$2,987,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,979,000)
to Trillion Trophy;

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
incurred interest expenses of approximately
HK$464,000 (2019: approximately HK$464,000) to
GRED;

(iv) As at 30 June 2020, the outstanding principal
amount and interest payable to Trillion Trophy were
approximately HK$66,197,000 (2019: approximately
HK$66,197,000) and approximately HK$6,877,000
(2019: approximately HK$3,890,000) respectively;

R RS AR M R ()

E22020%F6 H30H IF FE
42, HAREE
HEESE

43.

R2020F6 A30H @ IRIEMIKEH S A
HihBHRRGT L2 E TERHIGER
W Ea THEKRE - RIEMNEEINRE
BeH o § 5202056300 Al AELEE
SRMAmMEATREBHEZEZRSELD
59,476,000% 7t (18 & 7 46,283,000
FEHE) (20194F : #943,513,0005 7T (7
LA #4,393,0005 85 )) ©

MELTXR S K EER

(@) BAKREHMBHRREMEDHMH
MR 5 RAERI  REBREF
NEREATHUTR P R

() # E2020%6H308 It
E - ANEEHEXE (GRED
>EHEB M EBRGE) RIS
BHEEHZE - FAN - B2
A& U A #924,811,0005 7T
(20194 : #94,647,000/%

JL)

(i) # ZE2020F6H30R It F
E - AEBAXNMNFE
S i 492,987,000 T F
Trillion Trophy (20194 : 49
2,979,000/ 7))

(i) # E=2020F6H30R It F
B AEBASAHR LT
#7464,0007 7T (20194 : 43
464,000 7T,) TGRED :

(iv) 72020F6HA30H * &7
Trillion Trophy2Z 7 & & AN &
K F B 5 5l 4166,197,0007%
70 (20194 : #766,197,000
B JL) & 496,877,000/ JT
(20194 : #93,890,0007%

JT)
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43.

44.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(Continued)

(@) (Continued)

(v) As at 30 June 2020, the lease liabilities to GRED
was approximately HK$4,632,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$594,000) (2019: approximately
HK$4,636,000, equivalent to approximately
US$594,000); and

(viy As at 30 June 2020, the interest payable to GRED
was approximately HK$275,000 (2019: approximately
HK$274,000).

(b) Key management compensation

Members of key management personnel during the year
ended 30 June 2020 comprised only of the Directors
whose remuneration is set out in note 14.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had the following significant events subsequent to
the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report:

Acquisition of medical service business

On 31 July 2020, the Group has, through the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital in two limited liability companies
established in Japan, acquired their medical services business
in Japan. The medical services business principally comprises
of medical consultation and healthcare and wellness referral
related series in Japan. Customers are mainly from oversea
countries seeking medical services such as health checks,
medical diagnosis and treatments in Japan. For further details,
please refer to in the announcement of the Company dated 31
July 2020.

e BRI )

ZF 20206 H30H IFF/E

43.

44.

RMELTXRSZ K& (E)

(@) (#&)
(v) 7202046 H30H8 © &
GREDH & & f& #4,632,000
7 7T (F8 5 M 49594,0003
J0) (20194 : 494,636,000
7 70 (F8 5 1 49594,0003
7)) 5 &

(vi) M2020%6H30H ' &I 7|
B ¥GRED#)275,000/ 7T
(20194 : £J274,000/87T) °

(b) TEEEEMS

R E £2020F6 308 IF F & -
FTEEEEREERREES  #
L2 FE A KT FE14 -

BEHREBE
RBEMREREEARERY A%
BAETHEREM:

WEBRERE XK

20207 A31H + ANE BB B IIE M
RRBAKZZBRETRATZEZEE
BITRAUWERENB A BEERSGE
%o BEREESEZEEN A KRS
BEEBA RRE R EREEN 8 R
% - BREPEERABEINER  REEAS
KEFERE  BEIEKARESBEER
% - BEE—FFHE  #2HARFAH
BB B2020F7 A31H 2 A4 o
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For the year ended 30 June 2020
45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

AS AT 30 JUNE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in subsidiaries RB R ZRE 1 1
Total non-current assets M EELRTE 1 1
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other Be - TEAFIE R E At FE YRR
receivables 728 1,087
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU I B A R 5K IE 829,751 590,619
Bank balances and cash IRITER KRS 10,848 49,287
Total current assets MENE ELREE 841,327 640,993
Current liabilities REAE
Accruals and other payables FE AT R K H A A5 5RIE 20,207 9,656
Amounts due to subsidiaries FER B A R FRIE 29,208 4,409
Borrowings B3R 473,904 130,000
Total current liabilities mEE R 523,319 144,065
Net current assets REEEFHE 318,008 496,928
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRABEE 318,009 496,929
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings B& - 79,697
Total non-current liabilities JEME B ERE - 79,697
NET ASSETS BEEZFE 318,009 417,232
Capital and reserves EAXREE
Share capital A&7 177,100 177,100
Reserves ] 140,909 240,132
TOTAL EQUITY A 318,009 417,232
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EEMBHRE

For the year ended 30 June

HZE6ANALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Results E4 20204 2019%F 20184 20174 20164
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FE FAET FET FEIT FET
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue 28 231,529 210,437 208,013 172,950 169,333
Loss before taxation 75 A B 18 (271,683) (363,050) (437,968) (207,106) (60,029)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrE#E R,/ (SZH) 5,199 (1,640) 266 24,528 255
Loss for the year AEEZER (266,484) (364,690 (437,702) (182,578) (59,774)
Loss for the year ERAFEERE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ~ K2R HA A (260,484) (360,927) (425,027) (177,712) (58,574)
Non-controlling interests ~ FEIZ A& 25 (6,000) (3,763) (12,675) (4,866) (1,200)
(266,484) (364,690) (437,702) (182,578) (59,774)
At 30 June
M6HA30AR
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Assets and liabilities BERER 20205 20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FET FET
(Restated)
(ke E=51)
Total assets BERT 1,061,515 1,034,515 949,815 525,699 374,537
Total liabilities BEGE (761,286) (459,008) (383,805) (229,593) (308,643)
Net assets BEFH 300,229 575,509 566,010 296,106 65,894
Equity attributable to: JE(E o
Owners of the Company AR EHESE A 326,747 596,941 583,235 300,774 65,534
Non-controlling interests ~ FF3& A% 1 %= (26,518) (21,432) (17,225) (4,668) 360
Total equity HEmiEEE 300,229 575,509 566,010 296,106 65,894
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth the Group’s major properties as at 30

E-27/E S

TREH|AEBEP2020F6 H30H 2 T2

June 2020: ¥
PROPERTIES IN CAMBODIA SRIFFEYE
Properties held for investment FEEREYE
The Group’s
Category of interest
Location Usage the lease term AEE
I B Jizkes HEER Frib s
Phom Penh City Center No. 58, Street R8, @ Commercial Long-term 100%
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom &2 KH
Penh, Cambodia
RFEESEMSEMH ONo. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh
Units 501, 502, 503, 503A, 505, 506, 507, Residential/ Freehold 100%
508, 601, 602, 603, 603A, 605, 606, 607, Commercial KAERE
608, 701, 702, 703, 703A, 705, 706, 707, (X% /@&

708, 801, 802, 803, 803A, 805, 806, 807,
808, 901, 902, 903, 903A, 905, 906, 907,
908, 1001, 1002, 1003, 1003A, 1005, 10086,
1007, 1008, 1101, 1102, 1103, 1103A, 1105,
1106, 1107, 1108, 1201, 1202, 1203, 1203A,
1205, 1206, 1207, 1208 and portion of the
2-storey commercial podium adjacent to the
main building, Block C of One Park, Phnom
Penh City Center, No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat
Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom Penh,
Cambodia

KEELENSETT LN, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, €%
SRCEEZE 501, 502, 503, 503A, 505, 506, 507,
508, 601, 602, 603, 603A, 605, 606, 607,
608, 701, 702, 703, 703A, 705, 706, 707,
708, 801, 802, 803, 803A, 805, 806, 807,
808, 901, 902, 903, 903A, 905, 906, 907,
908, 1001, 1002, 1003, 1003A, 1005, 1006,
1007, 1008, 1101, 1102, 1103, 1103A, 1105,
1106, 1107, 1108, 1201, 1202, 1203, 1203A,
1205, 1206, 1207, 1208 = K FIEIFARI2E
STSE 22 S50
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES (continves) I BE¥) ZE /i 3= ()

The Group’s

Category of interest

Location Usage the lease term REME
ith B4 Az FEHA X B Pt RE s

Units 301, 302, 303, 303A, 305, 306, 307, 308, Residential/ Long-term 100%

1501, 1502, 1503, 1503A, 1505, 1506, 1507, Commercial &=
1508, 1601, 1602, 1603, 1603A, 1605, 1606, E= F*
1607, 1608, 1701, 1702, 1703, 1703A, 1705,
1706, 1707, 1708 and portion of the podium
and corridor connected to the main building,
Block C of One Park, Phnom Penh City Center,
No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan
Doun Penh, Phnom Penh, Cambodia

RIFESEMNESETHLD, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, £i#%
S$RCEEZ 301, 302, 303, 303A, 305, 306, 307,
308, 1501, 1502, 1503, 1503A, 1505, 15086,
1507, 1508, 1601, 1602, 1603, 1603A, 1605,
1606, 1607, 1608, 1701, 1702, 1703, 1703A,
1705, 1706, 1707, 1708 = & = ER#AIE1E
X 7E BB &R 19

G/F and M/F, Block C of One Park, Phnom  Commercial Long-term 100%
Penh City Center, No. 58, Street R8, Sangkat B3 R
Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, Phnom Penh,
Cambodia
RIFESENSETH L, No. 58, Street RS,
Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Doun Penh, £i&%
SRCEEHY T [ [
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